EFFECT OF A DIRECT-FED MICROBIAL ON FEEDLOT PERFMORMANCE, CARCASS CHARACTERISTICS AND PREVALENCE OF *SALMONELLA* IN FED-BEEF HEIFERS

By

LAUREN MARIE MAYER

B.S., West Texas A&M University, 2019

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Subject: Animal Science

West Texas A&M University

Canyon, TX

August 2021

APPROVAL

Approved:

Dr. Ty Lawrence, Thesis Committee Co-Chair	Date
Dr. Travis Tennant, Thesis Committee Co-Chair	Date
Dr. Kevin Martens, Thesis Committee	Date
Dr. Lance Keith, Department Head of Agricultural Sciences	Date
Dr. Kevin Pond, Dean of the Paul Engler College of Agriculture and Natural Sciences	Date
Dr. Angela Spaulding, Dean of Graduate School	Date

ABSTRACT

Salmonella is a naturally occurring bacteria that is known to cause upwards of 1.35 million cases of foodborne illnesses annually. Ground beef products may be manufactured from trimmings containing Salmonella infected lymph nodes, which has led to pending rulemaking by USDA-Food Safety and Inspection Service to declare Salmonella as an adulterant. Direct-fed microbials are a pre-harvest intervention for reduction of *Salmonella*. The objective of this study was to determine the efficacy of a direct-fed microbial upon the prevalence and enumeration of Salmonella in feces and lymph nodes. Heifers (n=1,394; 291 \pm 9.9 kg) were blocked by day of arrival and randomly allocated to one of two treatments (0 or 2g/animal/d; CON and 10-G, respectively) with ten pens per treatment. Heifers fed 10-G were provided 1 billion CFUs per animal per day of *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Enterococcus faecium*, Pediococcus pentosaceus, Lactobacillus brevis and Lactobacillus plantarum. Twentyfour animals were randomly selected from each pen for *Salmonella* sampling. Rectoanal mucosal swab samples (RAMs) were obtained at initial processing and harvest; subiliac lymph nodes were collected at harvest. In addition, pen surface fecal pats were collected and composited by pen (10 pats per composite, 5 composites per pen) on days 0, 52, 120 and 170. Mixed models were used to analyze live performance, carcass characteristics and *Salmonella* prevalence and concentration with treatment used as fixed effect, block

used as random effect and pen as experimental unit. Repeated measures was used to analyze Salmonella prevalence and concentration across time using the unstructured covariance structure. Dry matter intake (P = 0.63), average daily gain (P = 0.69), gain:feed (P = 0.81) and final body weight (P = 0.79) did not differ between treatments. Neither morbidity (P = 0.90) nor mortality and railer rates (P = 0.55) were different between treatments. Hot carcass weight (P = 0.14), dressed carcass yield (P = 0.53), 12th rib fat depth (P = 0.73), ribeye area (P = 0.13), calculated empty body fat (P = 0.71) or marbling score (P = 0.20) were not different between treatments. Yield grade distributions did not differ between treatments ($P \ge 0.44$), however cattle fed 10-G tended (P = 0.06; 15.78 vs 20.34%) to be represented by fewer USDA Select carcasses and more (P = 0.09; 73.62 vs 77.97%) USDA Choice carcasses. Livers from cattle fed 10-G tended (P = 0.10; 12.26 vs 9.23%) to have a lower frequency of abscesses when compared to CON. Heifers fed 10-G also had fewer (P = 0.04; 5.27 vs 8.51%) severe liver abscesses. Salmonella prevalence of RAMs did not differ between treatments at initial processing (P = 0.92; CON = 11.6%, 10-G = 11.5%) or at harvest (P = 0.92; CON = 99.0%, 10-G = 98.6%), however RAMs differed (P < 0.01) in Salmonella prevalence between the two collection times. Likewise, Salmonella log (mpn/g) of RAMs did not differ between treatments at initial processing (P = 0.63; CON = 0.28, 10-G = 0.30) or at harvest (P = 0.63; CON = 4.40, 10-G = 4.05), while log (mpn/g) of Salmonella increased (P < 0.01) over the feeding period. Moreover, composited pen level fecal pats were similar for Salmonella prevalence (P = 0.73; CON = 69.0%, 10-G = 67.0%) between treatments, but prevalence increased (P < 0.01) sharply during the initial 52 d then plateaued during the remainder of the finishing period. However, Salmonella prevalence

differed (P < 0.01) among sampling days. Cattle fed 10-G had a lower frequency of *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes (P = 0.01; CON = 15.80%, 10-G = 7.41%) than CON. However, *Salmonella* log (mpn/g) of lymph nodes did not differ between treatments at harvest (P = 0.34; CON = 0.73, 10-G = 0.34). This data indicates that cattle fed 10-G decreased rates of severe liver abscesses without altering live animal performance or carcass characteristics as well as fewer *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes, which in turn can likely improve public health by reducing the number of foodborne illnesses caused by *Salmonella*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First off, I would like to thank this university and the building I sit here writing this in for the best six years of my life. The experiences and the people this university brought me is something I will never forget. I would like to also thank Dr. Lawrence. Thank you for taking a chance on a girl who had no clue what to do with her life. You have been a sounding board, an encourager, a shoulder to cry on, and one of my biggest influences. I will forever be indebted to you. Dr. Tennant thank you for bringing the fun wherever you go and always being our voice of reason. Dr. Lucherk you were just what our program needed. I will cherish our friendship and cannot wait to be your permanent babysitter.

To my friends, Tylo, Forest, Becca, Macie, Travis, Chandler, Wyatt, Sydney, Claire, Channing, Vanna, Veronica and Brittany- thank you for your continued love and support throughout my schooling. I would not have wanted to do this with anyone else by my side. You guys are truly my best friends.

To my family, I would not be typing this today without your endless love, support and encouragement. Mom- thank you for being my biggest cheerleader. I could not have done this without you. Jamey- thank you for introducing me to agriculture and always believing in my dreams. Dad- thank you for supporting me in everything I do. Jennathank you for constant encouragement and endless notes. You guys are the reason for my success. To Chase, thank you for understanding the late nights and early mornings. For loving me through the guts and the blood. I cannot wait to see where this life takes us.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	i
CHAPTER 1:	1
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2:	3
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
2.1 SALMONELLA	3
2.2 PREVELANCE RATES OF SALMONELLA	6
2.2.1 Hide	6
2.2.2 Fecal	9
2.2.3 Lymph Nodes	10
2.2.4 Geographical	12
2.2.5 Seasonal	14
2.2.6 Cattle Type	16
2.3 INTERVENTIONS FOR SALMONELLA	18
2.3.1 Feed Additives	19
2.3.2 Vaccines	21
2.3.3 Direct Fed Microbials	23
2.4 SUMMARY	25
2.5 LITERATURE CITED	26
CHAPTER 3:	35
EFFECT OF A DIRECT-FED MICROBIAL (10-G ARMOUR) ON FEEDLOT PERFORMANCE, CARCASS CHARACTERISTICS AND PREVALENCE OF SALMONELLA IN FED BEEF HEIFERS	35
OF DALMONDLA IN FED DEEF HEIFERO	55

3.1 INTRODUCTION	35
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	36
3.2.1 Cattle Processing and Experimental Design	37
3.2.2 Sample and Data Collection	39
3.2.3 Salmonella Analysis	40
3.2.4 Statistical Analysis	41
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	41
3.3.1 Live Performance	41
3.3.2 Carcass Performance	43
3.3.3 Liver and Lung Outcomes	44
3.3.4 Salmonella prevalence	45
3.4 CONCLUSION	47
3.5 REFERENCES	48

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. INGREDIENT FORMULATION AND ANALYZED COMPOSITION
OF STARTER AND FINISHING DIETS53
TABLE 2. LIVE AND GROWTH PERFORMANCE OF HEIFERS FED 10-G 54
TABLE 3. LIVER AND LUNG OUTCOMES OF HEIFERS FED 10-G
TABLE 4. CARCASS PERFOMANCE OF HEIFERS SUPPLEMENTED WITH
10-G56
TABLE 5. SALMONELLA PREVALENCE AND LOG IN COMPOSITE FECAL
PATS COLLECTED FROM CATTLE FED 10-G57
TABLE 6. SALMONELLA PREVALENCE AND LOG FROM THE RECTOANAL
MUCOSAL JUNCTION OF HEIFERS SUPPLEMENTED WITH 10-G58
TABLE 7. SALMONELLA PREVALENCE AND LOG OF SUBILIAC LYMPH
NODES COLLECTED FROM HEIFERS FED 10-G57

CHAPTER 1:

INTRODUCTION

Non-typhoidal Salmonella spp is a top five pathogen, estimated to cause 1.35 million cases of foodborne illness annually (CDC, 2019). Beef is reported as the eighth leading cause of Salmonella illnesses per year (IFSAC, 2020). Behind Norovirus, Salmonella causes 11 percent of all foodborne illnesses a year (Scallan et al., 2011). The Interagency Food Safety Analytics Collaboration (IFSAC, 2020) estimates that approximately 38% of foodborne salmonellosis in the United States is attributed to meat and poultry products. Salmonella has become a rising concern in ground beef and other comminuted beef products due to the harborage of Salmonella within non-mesenteric, peripheral lymph nodes which serve as a potential source of ground beef contamination. Because these peripheral lymph nodes are generally surrounded by a significant amount of adipose tissue, they are typically impervious to in-plant interventions designed to reduce pathogenic bacteria (Brown et al., 2015). Reduction of Salmonella in cattle has become a contemporary issue for the industry due to pending rulemaking by Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS) that may declare Salmonella as an adulterant. Salmonella is a naturally occurring bacteria that is known to harbor in beef animals. Direct-fed microbials (DFM) have shown promise as an effective preharvest intervention strategy to mitigate the pathogenic load in beef cattle. When direct-fed

microbials were fed to beef cattle, prevalence of *Salmonella* within lymph nodes has been reported to be reduced when compared to control cattle (Stephens et al., 2007; Vipham et al., 2015; Brown et al., 2019). Direct-fed microbial supplementation may provide an effective preharvest intervention to reduce the burden of *Salmonella* in lymph nodes of cattle and reduce the relative risk of exposing *Salmonella* to humans.

CHAPTER 2:

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 SALMONELLA

Salmonella is a gram-negative, rod-shaped, non-sporeforming bacteria discovered in 1885 by Dr. Daniel Salmon and is naturally occurring in both human and animals. There are more than 2,500 serotypes of *Salmonella* (Hanson et al., 2019) that have been reported thus far, yet only 32 serotypes are known to be virulent to humans (CDC, 2013). *Salmonella* causes 1.35 million cases annually and is the leading cause of foodborne related hospitalizations and deaths with 26,500 hospitalizations and 420 deaths (CDC, 2019). Routes of entry of *Salmonella* can be from contaminated food or water as well as direct contact (human to human or animal to human). Non-typhoidal *Salmonella* is a pathogen that causes foodborne illnesses in humans which can lead to gastroenteritis, bacteremia, and focal infection (Hohmann, 2001). Within those, gastroenteritis is the most common and has an onset of six to seventy-two hours causing diarrhea, abdominal pain, fever and vomiting (Crump et al., 2015). Symptoms vary among individuals due to variance in virulence, immunity and serotype (Jones et al., 2008: Hanson et al., 2019).

The vast majority of *Salmonella* cases originate from agricultural products. *Salmonella enteritidis* is found in the ovaries of hens leading to *Salmonella* infected eggs (Gast and Beard, 1990), whereas *Salmonella* typhimurium is highly associated with vegetables (Quiroz-Santiago et al., 2009). The most common serotypes detected in ground beef as reported by Bosilevac et al. (2009) were *Montevideo, Anatum* and *Muenster* at 21, 14.8 and 8.5% of samples, respectively. *Salmonella* serotypes present in fecal samples of feedlot cattle differed slightly from those of ground beef with *Anatum* being most commonly found (27.9%) followed by *Montevideo* (12.9%), *Muenster* (11.8%) and *Kentucky* (8.2%) (Fedorka-Cray et al., 1998).

Beef is documented as the eighth leading cause of salmonellosis (IFSAC, 2020) and accounts for 11 percent of all Salmonella cases reported (Scallan et al., 2011). When more than two people report an illness from a food pathogen, such as Salmonella, it is considered a foodborne disease outbreak. Since 2006, there have been five Salmonella outbreaks involving beef across the United States with 504 reported cases, one death, 1,153 hospitalizations and 12,164,611 million pounds of ground beef recalled (CDC, 2021). Utilizing data from FSIS Quaterly sampling reports for 2020 (FSIS, 2021), Salmonella prevalence rates were determined from 17,851 raw beef samples with 377 positive samples (8.41%). Fourth quarter report (2020 July – 2020 September) had 156 positives, which was the highest prevalence rate of all quarters. Utilizing the same report, the National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System sampling reports dairy cows to have a prevalence rate of 25.18% as compared to beef cows at 9.68% with steers and heifers at 14.81 and 21.23%, respectively. *Salmonella* is the single most costly bacteria in terms of foodborne illnesses and is an economical burden. The average economic cost of a non-typhoidal Salmonella case is \$4,312 (Scharff, 2012).

Recent studies have implicated lymph nodes as a source of contamination of ground beef products (Arthur et al., 2008; Koohmaraie et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014) due to trimmings destined for ground beef containing lymph nodes that were not removed during harvest or fabrication procedures. Lymph nodes are impervious to traditional inplant interventions. Hot water and organic acids are not applicable due to protection provided to the lymph nodes through adipose tissue. Peripheral lymph nodes (PLNs) are more often found in beef trimmings versus mesenteric lymph nodes due to mesenteric lymph nodes being discarded after evisceration; therefore, not posing a food safety risk. Ground beef samples obtained (n=4,136) from commercial processors in different regions across the United States were 4.2% positive for *Salmonella* (Bosilevac et al., 2009). Webb et al. (2017) reported 5.3% of lymph nodes to have a prevalence rate of 14.7%.

In 2011, FSIS declared that it was not necessary to sample beef carcasses for *Salmonella* due to extremely low percentage recovered. However, more recently FSIS proposed new performance standards for *Salmonella* in raw ground beef and beef manufacturing trimmings (Docket No. FSIS-2018-0045) to increase *Salmonella* sampling to once per week at plants producing over 50,000 lb of ground beef per day and allowing for only two positive samples out of 48 (FSIS, 2019). Though FSIS is petitioning for a performance standard for *Salmonella* in cattle, Bill Marler, a foodborne illness lawyer, has also filed a petition with USDA Food Safety and Inspection Service requesting that *Salmonella Agona, Anatum, Berta, Blockely, Braenderup, Derby, Dublin, Enteritidis, Hadar, Heidelberg, I 4,[5],12:i:-, Infantis, Javiana, Litchfield, Mbandaka, Mississippi,*

Montevideo, Muenchen, Newport, Oranienburg, Panama, Poona, Reading, Saintpaul, Sandiego, Schwarzengrund, Senftenberg, Stanley, Thompson, Typhi, and Typhimurium be declared adulterants in meat and poultry products (Docket No. FSIS-2020-0007). In 1994, *E. coli* O157:H7 was declared an adulterant by FSIS under the Federal Meat Inspection Act and in 2012 FSIS declared 6 more shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* strains as adulterants. After declaring *E. coli* as an adulterant, the number of *E. coli* cases per year has had an overall decline and Marler believes the same will happen with Salmonella.

2.2 PREVELANCE RATES OF SALMONELLA

Beef cattle are known reservoirs for *Salmonella*, which has been isolated from hides, feces, and lymph nodes with influence from environmental location, seasonality and cattle type.

2.2.1 Hide

Given hide covers the body of the animal, it is expected that the hide will be contaminated multiple times throughout the animal's life. This could be due to a variety of reasons such as the animal laying down in pens, direct contact with other animals, flies, and transportation.

The prevalence of *Salmonella* found on hides of beef cattle is well established in the literature. Bacon et al. (2002) sampled hides from eight different beef processing plants that slaughtered heifers and steers or cows and bulls. Samples (n=319) were taken after exsanguination but before hide removal in three different anatomical areas (flank, brisket and rump) of the animal. While some processors had zero positive samples for *Salmonella*, other processors had as many as 19 positive samples. Of the 319 samples

taken, 49 were positive for *Salmonella* and had an overall prevalence of 15.4%. An additional study by Barkocy-Gallagher et al. (2002) using different culture methods revealed that out of 50 hide samples per method (Standard, MRU, and MRU-TT), 49, 45 and 49% were positive for *Salmonella*, respectively. Koohmaraie et al. (2012) also used two different methods to analyze *Salmonella* swabs recovered from 100 dairy cow hides at a commercial packing facility. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and USDA-FSIS MLG 4.04 procedure were used to analyze all swabs. Samples were 95% positive for *Salmonella* when using PCR, whereas the FSIS procedure detected 96% positive for *Salmonella*. Kunze et al. (2008) sampled four different beef processors and recovered *Salmonella* from 752 of 1,081 hide swabs with an overall presence of 69.6%. From the 22 serotypes identified, *Salmonella enterica* serovars *Anatum, Montevideo* and *Cerro* were of greatest prevalence at 25.5, 22.2 and 12.5%, respectively.

Transportation is known to increase stress (Mackenzie et al., 1997) and shedding of *Salmonella* (USDA, 1996) in beef cattle. Trailers not properly cleaned and sanitized between loads can increase chances of animals becoming infected with *Salmonella* during transport. Barham et al. (2002) sampled 10 pens with 20 steers and heifers (n=200) at a large commercial feedlot by taking a ventral midline hide swab from each animal pre-shipment and after arrival at a beef processing facility. There was a significant increase (P < 0.01) in *Salmonella* prevalence from pre-shipment swabs to processing swabs. Swabs collected at the feedlot and during processing had an overall prevalence of 6 and 86.9%, respectively. Hide swabs (n=100) were collected preshipping and arrival at beef processor from feedlot cattle over four days and adult cattle (*n*=96) over two days (Beach et al., 2002). There was a significant increase (P < 0.05) in *Salmonella* contamination of hides pre-shipping and arrival at the slaughter facility of 18 and 56% positive, respectively. Pre-transit and post-transit swabs were significantly different (P < 0.05) in adult cattle. *Salmonella* prevalence on pre-transit hides was 19.8% and increased to 52.2% on post-transit hides. When feedlot and adult cattle hides were compared pre and post transit, they were not significantly different. Dewell et al. (2008) tested multiple factors that could potentially be contaminated with *Salmonella* at the feedyard, transportation and beef processing facility. Out of 40 lots of cattle from 18 different feedyards, hide swabs collected at the feedyard were 6.9% positive for *Salmonella* (54/785) and increased to 19.5% (153/784) positive hide swabs during slaughter. Transportation trailers and lairage pens were 21.9 and 23.3% positive for *Salmonella*, respectively.

Transdermal is known to be a route of entry for *Salmonella* into the body of beef cattle (Edrington et al., 2013a, b). *Salmonella* can enter the host transdermally via biting flies through the hide where it is transported to the peripheral lymph nodes (Edrington et al., 2013b). Olafson et al. (2016) observed than when *Salmonella* Senftenberg was fed to horn flies (n=800) using blood meal, which were allowed to feed on the rump or shoulder of the cattle for five days and then replaced with new unfed horn flies once over 11 days, twice over 19 days or not replaced at all. *Salmonella* was recovered from the hide at 88, 100, and 100%, respectively.

2.2.2 Fecal

Salmonella is found in the gastrointestinal tract of cattle (Samuel et al., 1981; Abouzeed et al., 2000) and eventually shed through feces leading to contamination.

Fedorka-Cray et al. (1998) sampled 100 feedyards across 13 major cattle feeding states. Fecal pats (n=25) were collected from two pens from each feedyard; one pen with the shortest days on feed and one pen with the longest days on feed. Thirty-eight percent of feedyards were positive for *Salmonella* with 5.5% (273 of 4,977) positive fecal pats. Cattle that were on feed longer (longest days on feed was 180 days) had a significantly higher prevalence (P < 0.05) of *Salmonella* when compared to cattle that had been on feed for a shorter duration (shortest days on feed was 8 days). Several *Salmonella* serotypes were isolated with *Anatum* highest in prevalence (27.9%) followed by *Montevideo* (12.9%), *Muenster* (11.8%), *Kentucky* (8.2%), *and Newington* (4.3%) lowest in prevalence. Fegan et al. (2004) reported low rates of *Salmonella* was only present in 21 grab samples with feedlot and grass-fed cattle having *Salmonella* detected in 14 and 7 fecal grabs, respectively.

Fecal pats (n=50) were collected by rectal palpation from 15 animals at the West Texas A&M University Feedlot and 35 animals from Texas Tech University Burnett Center Feedlot and *Salmonella* was detected through Polymerase Chain Reaction (Stephens et al., 2007). Fecal pats were 50% positive for *Salmonella* and had a lower recovery rate ($P \le 0.04$) when compared to other locations (back, flank, hock, neck, Perineum, Ventrum, oral) of the animal sampled for *Salmonella* prevalence. An additional study by Gragg et al. (2013a) sampled (n = 68) cattle in a beef processing facility in Mexico where feces were collected from the recto-colon portion and 94.1% of fecal grabs were positive for *Salmonella*.

2.2.3 Lymph Nodes

The lymphatic system plays an important role in the immune function of an animal because it is used as a filtration system that allows the body to isolate foreign bacteria and viruses and eventually destroy them (Arthur et al., 2008). This could potentially lead to lymph nodes that are loaded with pathogenic bacteria and pose as a risk to ground beef trimmings and the end consumer. Lymph nodes, which are part of the lymphoid system and secondary lymphoid organs (Buettner and Bode, 2012), are found throughout the body of man and animal and serve an important role in the immune system. Immune responses to pathogenic antigens are controlled within the lymph nodes. Lymph nodes identify antigens from lymph fluid by acting as a filter and initiate an immune response to pathogenic antigens or create tolerance against harmless antigens (Buettner and Bode, 2012). Dendritic and T cells play a major role in immune response where naïve T cells navigate to lymph nodes to find antigens presented by dendritic cells (Bousso, 2008). Macrophages (phagocytic cells) destroy antigens through phagocytosis which causes the release of cytokines to alert the adaptive immune system (Willard-Mack, 2006; Gray and Cyster, 2012). Macrophages will catch any bacteria and protect against further invasion. Salmonella can survive outside and inside of the host cell due to being a facultative intracellular pathogen. Salmonella harbors pathogenicity islands allowing for *Salmonella* virulence to occur (Gerlach and Hensel, 2007). Pathogenicity

islands are large DNA regions that are found in pathogenic bacteria that have virulence properties (Gerlach and Hensel, 2007). *Salmonella* has five *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands (SPI) where SPI 1 is required for bacteria is invade the epithelial cells of the intestine whereas SPI 2, 3 and 4 are necessary for growth and survival of bacteria (Marcus et al., 2000). Instead of being destroyed by macrophages, Salmonella can attack and destroy macrophages while infecting other cells with Salmonella (Holzer, 2020).

Lymph nodes located in the chuck and flank are often encased in fatty tissue and usually are destined for ground beef; in contrast, mesenteric lymph nodes are removed at harvest during evisceration (Arthur et al., 2008). Koohmaraie et al. (2012) sampled (n=100) superficial cervical lymph nodes from dairy cows at a beef processing facility. Trim samples (n=14) and raw ground beef samples (n=60) from sample animals were also collected to determine the prevalence of Salmonella. Salmonella was determined through mulitplex PCR with positives further being plated by using the USDA FSIS MLG 4.04 procedures and negative samples were further cultured using Rappaport-Vassiliadis broth and tetrathionate broth, PCR assay again and USDA FSIS MLG 4.04 confirmation. Superficial cervical lymph nodes were 18% positive for Salmonella through PCR and MLG 4.04. Arthur et al. (2008) sampled subiliac and superficial cervical lymph nodes from fed and cull cattle. Lymph nodes (n=570) had an overall Salmonella prevalence of 1.6%; superficial cervical lymph nodes in cull and fed cattle were 1.05 and 0.35% positive, respectively. Subiliac lymph nodes were 3.86% positive for cull cattle and 1.05% positive in fed cattle. Webb et al. (2017) collected subiliac peripheral lymph nodes (n=5,450) from both feedlot and cull cattle from three different

regions (northern, southern and western) of the United States during a span of 11 months from 12 beef processing facilities. Overall, *Salmonella* was recovered from 5.3% of all lymph nodes sampled. Log concentrations of subiliac lymph nodes ranged from 1.6 to 4.9 log₁₀ CFU/PLN with 51 of the 160 had a concentration greater than 3.0 log₁₀.

As mentioned previously, transdermal transmission is a known route of entry for *Salmonella* into peripheral lymph nodes in cattle because of biting flies feeding hourly on the hide (Edrington et al., 2013a, b). Oflason et al. (2016) conducted a study which involved four experiments with different strains of *Salmonella*, number of flies in cages, and different locations of fixed fly cages on the animal. Experiment four evaluated different exposure rates of horn flies and the effects on *Salmonella* prevalence in lymph nodes. Fly cages were adhered to the left and right shoulder or left and right rump for 5, 11, or 19 days. Each fly cage (n=4) contained 200 flies that had been fed bloodmeal that contained *Salmonella Seftenberg*. Cattle affixed with cages on the shoulder had a higher prevalence rate of *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes when compared to the rump. The extending feeding of flies on cattle also had an impact on *Salmonella* prevalence rates with 8% positive after a 5-day exposure period and 50 and 42% positive after 11 and 19-day exposure periods, respectively.

2.2.4 Geographical

Salmonella prevalence can differ by regions across the United States. The southern United States is known to have a higher rate of Salmonella when compared to the northern region (Rivera-Betancourt et al., 2004). Hide samples from the southern region were (n=510) were significantly higher (P < 0.01) with a prevalence of 91.8%

when compared to the northern region (n=523) cattle who had a prevalence of 50.3%. Holding pens at beef processor that contained southern region cattle had 26.7% more Salmonella compared to those that held northern region cattle. Dargatz et al. (2003) sampled fecal pats from 70 feedlots across 12 states and reported that the southern region had a higher *Salmonella* prevalence (7.7%) when compared to northern regions (4.8%). Webb et al. (2017) collected subiliac peripheral lymph nodes (n = 5,450) of cull and fed beef from three regions and 12 beef processing facilities in the United States. The three regions were categorized as followed; Region A (northern region) consisted of Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maryland, Missouri, Nebraska, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia and West Virginia; Region B (southern region) consisted of Arizona, New Mexico, Oklahoma and Texas; Region C (western region) consisted of California, Nevada and Utah. The overall prevalence of Salmonella found in subiliac peripheral lymph nodes of cattle sampled was 5.3% with log concentrations ranging from 1.6 to 4.9 log₁₀ CFU/PLN. Region B (southern region) had a prevalence rate of 10.3% as opposed to Region A (northern region) and Region C (western region) where prevalence rates were 1.89 and 2.77%, respectively. An additional study by Haneklaus et al. (2012) collected superficial cervical (n=279) and iliofemoral (n=28) lymph nodes across four different collection times over a 3-month period from July to September from feedlots located in the southern region of the United States. Initial variability amongst feedyards differed considerably for Salmonella prevalence; Salmonella was not recovered from feedyard A, while feedyard B lymph nodes were 100% positive for superficial cervical location and 80% positive at the iliofemoral location. Second collection results observed

feedyard A still did not have *Salmonella* and feedyard B had a prevalence of 100%. The third collection yielded a prevalence of 0 and 76% for feedyard A and B, respectively. Lymph nodes of the final collection were obtained from Mexican cattle with the hypothesis that cattle origin would alter *Salmonella* prevalence. Cattle of different origin yielded the same results from the above collections with 0% prevalence in feedyard A and 88% prevalence in feedyard B. Though all feedyards collected on were in the southern regions of the United States where it is well-established that *Salmonella* is higher in prevalence, feedyards located in various parts of the southern region plays a role in the varying rates of *Salmonella* found in lymph nodes.

2.2.5 Seasonal

Seasonality is a significant factor in prevalence of *Salmonella* due to *Salmonella* needing warmer conditions to grow; *Salmonella* is seen to increase in warmer months and have a lesser detection in cooler months. *Salmonella* recovered from beef cattle harvested at three processors in the Midwest revealed that fecal samples were significantly higher (P < 0.05) in the summer when compared to other seasons (Barkocy-Gallagher et al., 2003). Fecal samples (n=287) in the summer were 9.1% positive for *Salmonella*, while fall, winter and spring were 2.8, 2.5 and 2.1% positive, respectively. Hides from all four seasons had an overall prevalence of 71% and followed the pattern of fecal samples with summer having a prevalence of 97.7% with a decrease during winter to 27.7%. McEvoy et al. (2003) reported that *Salmonella* was most frequently found from August to October and was not found during the months of February, April, May, June, July or November. Dargatz et al. (2003) also reported fecal samples collected from

70 feedlots across the United States were lowest from January to March (2.8%) and October to December (4%) and were highest from July to September (11.4%) and April to June (6.8%) and significant when combined into warm and cool season (P < 0.01). In contrast, Brichta-Harhay et al. (2008) reported that seasonality did not effect (P = 0.67) prevalence of *Salmonella* found on hides.

Protection is provided to lymph nodes during harvest through carcass fat allowing lymph nodes to avoid any post-harvest interventions that are being implemented to reduce *E. coli* prevalence and end up in ground beef trimmings. Lymph node adulteration can also be affected by seasonality. Gragg et al. (2013b) collected subiliac lymph nodes (n = 3,327) from cull and feedlot cattle during three different periods (September-November, February/March and July-September). Lymph nodes from both cattle types and all regions were 14.7% positive for Salmonella, while feedlot cattle lymph nodes were significantly higher (P < 0.05) in summer/fall than winter/spring with no seasonality affect in cull cattle with a prevalence of 0.65%. Webb et al. (2017) collected subiliac lymph nodes (n=5,450) from cull and feedlot cattle across 11 months to determine the seasonal effect on prevalence in lymph nodes. Salmonella prevalence in subiliac lymph nodes during warmer season (June – October) was 8.2% and cooler season (February – May, November – December) was 2.4%. Feedlot cattle lymph nodes had a lower prevalence in the cooler season (2.7%), which increased to 11.6% in the warmer season, whereas cull cattle were low (< 2%) during both seasons. An additional study by Nickelson et al. (2019) agrees with the seasonality trend reporting 93 of 200

15

lymph nodes (46.5%) positive for *Salmonella* in cool season and 115 of 200 (57.5%) lymph nodes positive in warm season.

2.2.6 Cattle Type

Cattle from different production systems and breeds can affect a multitude of factors such as ribeye area (Moore et al., 2012; Boykin et al., 2017), marbling score (Moore et al., 2012; Boykin et al., 2017) and hot carcass weight (Moore et al., 2012; Boykin et al., 2017), as well as pathogenic presence and load on and within an animal.

Cull beef including dairy cows, range cows and bulls are known to have lower Salmonella incidence (10.5%) when compared to fed beef (29.5%; Herrick, 2018). Feedlot origin cattle that were harvest ready had a hide Salmonella prevalence of 81.4% with a concentration of 2.32 log10 MPN/cm2. Though they were not different (P = 0.47), dairy and beef cattle with poor productivity both had lower Salmonella prevalence of 71.2 and 59%, respectively when compared to feedlot, harvest ready cattle (Kunze et al., 2008). Webb et al. (2017) reported that cull cattle subiliac lymph nodes (n=1,840) were 1.79% positive for Salmonella, whereas fed cattle lymph nodes (n=3,610) were 7.09% positive. In agreeance with Webb et al. (2017), Gragg et al. (2013b) collected subiliac lymph nodes (n=3,327) from fed and cull cattle were significantly higher (P < 0.01) in fed cattle when compared to cull cattle with *Salmonella* prevalence of 0.65 and 11.8%, respectively. Contrary to previous studies Arthur et al. (2008) observed that when superficial cervical lymph nodes from the chuck (n=570) and subiliac lymph nodes from the flank (n=570) were collected from fed and cull cattle. Cull cattle had a higher prevalence (2.46%) of *Salmonella* when compared to fed cattle (0.70%). Flank lymph

nodes were 3.86 and 1.05% positive for *Salmonella*, whereas chuck lymph nodes were 1.05 and 0.35% positive for *Salmonella* in cull and fed cattle, respectively.

Brown et al. (2015) reported Holstein steer subiliac lymph nodes (n = 467) had a higher prevalence of *Salmonella* (62.1%) when compared to beef cattle (n=462) subiliac lymph nodes at a prevalence rate of 59.7%. Though Holstein steers had an increase in positive lymph nodes, the majority of quantifiable lymph nodes had considerably the same log concentration of *Salmonella* between both beef and Holstein steers from 2.4 to 4.1 log CFU/g and 2.7 and 4.1 log CFU/g, respectively.

Due to flies being a vector in which *Salmonella* reaches the lymph nodes (Edrington et al., 2013b), Brown et al. (2015) hypothesized that Brahman cattle could potentially have lower rates of *Salmonella* prevalence in lymph nodes due to their environmental adaptability of being more resistant to parasites. Lymph nodes collected from Brahman cattle (n=42) and beef cattle (n=31) were 100 and 97% positive for *Salmonella*, respectively and did not differ (P = 0.25).

Gragg et al. (2013a) collected hide, feces and lymph node (mesenteric, mediastinal and subiliac) samples from cattle (n=68) at a beef processing facility in Mexico. *Salmonella* was prevalent in 94.1% and 100% of fecal and hides, respectively. Mesenteric, subiliac, mandibular and mediastinal lymph nodes were 91.2, 76.5, 55.9 and 7.4% positive for *Salmonella*, respectively. Nickelson et al. (2019) compared cattle which came from the same feedlot, but originated from different countries (United States or Mexico). There was no difference (P = 0.48) found in subiliac lymph nodes of cattle originating from Mexico and United States where lymph nodes were 54 and 50%, respectively. The increase of positive lymph nodes in Mexico compared to cattle originating from Mexico could be indicative of seasonality due to Mexico having higher temperatures year round compared to Mexican cattle fed in the United States were warm and cool season occur.

2.3 INTERVENTIONS FOR SALMONELLA

Previous research indicates, *Salmonella* is harbored in peripheral lymph nodes of healthy cattle (Arthur et al., 2008; Koohmaraie et al., 2012; Webb et al., 2017). Due to lymph nodes being encased in fatty tissue and impervious to post-harvest interventions implemented to primarily reduce carcass surface contamination at harvest, do not reduce Salmonella prevalence within lymph nodes. Thus, pre-harvest interventions that target Salmonella carriage in a beef animal is necessary to mitigate Salmonella carriage in lymph nodes. Cattle present a risk to the processor due to potentially introducing pathogenic bacteria to slaughter facility. Additionally, modern post-harvest interventions are largely directed toward mitigating *E. coli*, which is largely controlled by carcass surface measures. Facilities implement Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) as well as other decontamination interventions such as hide-on wash cabinets (Arthur et al., 2008; Buncic and Sofos, 2012), bunging of the rectum to prevent fecal contamination on carcass (Sheridan, 1998; McEvoy et al., 2000), steam vacuuming and trimming (Kochevar et al., 1997; Sheridan, 1998; Koohmaraie et al., 2005), and pre- and post-evisceration wash (Sheridan, 1998). Though many interventions are implemented during harvest to reduce pathogen load and further contamination of the carcass, lymph nodes are protected during harvest interventions. It is economically impractical to

remove all lymph nodes or implement an intervention at harvest that would reduce *Salmonella* in lymph nodes inadvertenly destined for beef trimmings. In order for *Salmonella* to be reduced in lymph nodes, a pre-harvest intervention is necessary at the feedlot level. Different intervention technologies have been implemented to decrease *Salmonella* pre-harvest.

2.3.1 Feed Additives

Feed additives are used in a feedlot setting typically to benefit not only the animal, but the producer. Ractopamine hydrochloride, commonly known as Optaflexx, is reported to increase live weight, hot carcass weight, and average daily gain (Abney et al., 2007; Scramlin et al., 2010; Boler et al., 2012) in beef cattle and pigs. Ractopamine hydrochloride supplemented to feeder pigs over a four day period reduced *Salmonella* shedding; ractopamine fed pigs shed 0.89% less *Salmonella* compared to control pigs (*P* < 0.01; Edrington et al., 2005). In contrast, cattle fed ractopamine hydrochloride did not differ (*P* > 0.10) in *Salmonella* shedding in fecal samples in two replicates when compared to control (Edrington et al., 2006). When all three replicates were combined, the supplementation of ractopamine hydrochloride tended to increase (*P* = 0.08) overall positive samples when compared to control.

Tylosin phosphate (commonly fed as Tylan[®]) is a bacteriostartic macrolide antibiotic that is traditionally fed to cattle to reduce severity of liver abscesses in feedlot cattle. Bacterial protein synthesis is inhibited via macrolides due to adhering to the 50S subunit of the ribosome (Pyörälä et al., 2014). Macrolides are typically more effective against gram-positive bacteria as compared to gram-negative bacteria with no effectiveness against *Salmonella* (Pyörälä et al., 2014). Tylosin supplementation to pigs infected with *Salmonella* did not differ in prevalence (P = 0.66) or log₁₀ concentration control (P = 0.75) when compared to control; however, tylosin fed pigs shed *Salmonella* a shorter duration compared to control (P = 0.05). Steers and heifers (n=5,481) were randomly allocated to four treatments (tylosin, no tylosin, essential oil or Diamond V prototype) (Holzer, 2017). Fifteen subiliac lymph nodes were collected from cattle within each pen (n=40) and cultured for *Salmonella* prevalence. Treatment did not have an effect (P = 0.84) on *Salmonella* prevalence with an overall prevalence of 84.6%. Lymph nodes from cattle supplemented with tylosin were 86% positive for *Salmonella* with no tylosin, essential oil and Diamond-V prototype being 83.33, 86.67 and 82% positive, respectively. In contrast, crossbred and Holstein cattle supplemented with tylosin had a prevalence of 13 and 18% in liver abscesses, respectively as compared to control cattle that were 29 and 37% positive, respectively (Amachawadi et al., 2017).

Ascophyllum nodosum, or better known as brown seaweed or Tasco, has been used as a feed additive in ruminants and is reported to reduce *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 (Braden et al., 2004; Bach et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2018). Steers (n=100) and heifers (n=100) were randomly allocated to 2% Tasco-14 (TRT) supplemented 14 days prior to harvest or control (CON) (Braden et al., 2004). Fecal samples during the pre-feeding period for CON and TRT cattle were 36 and 29% positive for *Salmonella*, respectively. After exsanguination, TRT cattle were 63% positive and CON cattle were 83% positive. Though *Salmonella* prevalence had a significant increase (P < 0.01) in both control and Tasco-14 treated cattle, fecal samples in TRT cattle had lower *Salmonella* prevalence (P < 0.05) after the 14 d feeding period when compared to CON.

2.3.2 Vaccines

Vaccines in cattle are typically used for preventive measures against viral respiratory pathogens and clostridial diseases. Previous research indicates, *Salmonella* is harbored in peripheral lymph nodes (Arthur et al., 2008; Koohmaraie et al., 2012; Webb et al., 2017) where postharvest interventions are not efficacious in reducing prevalence of Salmonella in lymph nodes inadvertently destined for ground beef. A vaccine for Salmonella has been made through purified siderophore receptors and porin proteins which allow vaccinated cattle to produce antibodies to disturb iron acquisition of pathogenic bacteria along with other host defenses (Farrow, 2011). Salmonella vaccine administered to dairy cows had a reduced *Salmonella* prevalence when compared to dairy cows that did not receive the vaccine with vaccinated whole-herds feces 8.0% positive for Salmonella and 36.8% for herds that did not receive the vaccine (Loneragan et al., 2012). Farrow (2011) also reported a decrease in Salmonella prevalence (15.3%) in vaccinated dairy cattle compared to control (27.5%). In contrast, subiliac lymph nodes (P = 0.52) and fecal pats (P = 0.57) collected from vaccinated and control cattle did not differ (Cernicchiaro et al., 2016). Lymph nodes were 85.7 and 87.4% positive for Salmonella within vaccinated and control cattle, respectively. Though vaccinated cattle had a lower rate of *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes and fecal pats, the vaccine showed no significant differences. Edrington et al. (2020) administered Salmonella Newport Bacterial Extract to steers (n=30) and Endovac-Bovi to Holstein steers (n=12) to evaluate efficacy of two

commercially available vaccines on the reduction of *Salmonella* in lymph nodes. Steers were administered Salmonella Newport Bacterial Extract with SRP technology on d 0 and d 21. Steers were then inoculated every other day for five days with Salmonella intradermally four months after booster vaccination occurred. Cattle from each group where then euthanized on d 6 and d 12 post-inoculation of *Salmonella*. Treatment had no effect (P = 0.89) onperipheral lymph nodes collected on d 6 post-inoculation with vaccinated cattle being 55% positive for Salmonella compared to control with an overall prevalence of 52.2%. Twelve days post-inoculation, vaccinated steers had an overall Salmonella prevalence of 19.9% whereas control cattle were 62.3% positive for Salmonella across all peripheral lymph nodes. Holstein steers were administered Endovac-Bovi on d 0 and 14 and were also inoculated intradermally with Salmonella one week after booster vaccination with repeated inoculation every week for three weeks and euthanized seven days following last inoculation. Right popliteal lymph nodes from vaccinated steers were 0% positive for *Salmonella* whereas control right popliteal lymph nodes were 60% positive. There was no significant difference (P = 0.30) between control and vaccinated steers concerning overall prevalence of Salmonella in all peripheral lymph nodes. In an additional study by Horton et al. (2020) an autogenous vaccine was administered to feeder calves (n=55) in four treatment groups; control, farm (received at first dose and booster at McGregor Research Center, split (received vaccine at McGregor Research Center and booster upon entry into feedlot, and yard (received first and booster doses at feedlot). Left and right subiliac and superficial cervical lymph nodes (n=508) were obtained from each animal enrolled in the study. All cattle

vaccinated were 0% positive for *Salmonella* in lymph nodes when compared to control cattle lymph nodes (11%).

2.3.3 Direct Fed Microbials

Direct fed microbials (DFM) are defined as feed additives that contain live cultures (Brashears et al., 2005) to improve performance while simultaneously reducing pathogenic load in cattle (Brown et al., 2019). McAllister et al. (2011) proposed that direct fed microbials have antimicrobial effects in the rumen and exhibit competitive exclusion in both the small and large intestine. Studies that have been conducted using a direct fed microbial to reduce pathogenic load have mainly focused on *Escheria coli* O157:H7. Direct fed microbials reduced *Escheria coli* O157:H7 shedding in fecal pats (Brashears et al., 2003; Stephens et al., 2007; Tabe et al., 2008) as well as prevalence on the hide (Brashears et al., 2003; Younts-Dahl et al., 2004).

Direct fed microbial studies involving reduction of *Salmonella* is miniscule and varies by study. Tabe et al. (2008) evaluated the effects of direct fed microbials on fecal shedding of *Salmonella* with no reduction (P = 0.24) observed between treated versus control cattle. Though not significantly different, *Salmonella* was recovered from 11.3% of fecal samples compared to control cattle (14%). In an additional study by Stephens et al. (2007), *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (NP 51) and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* (NP 24) was fed to steers (n=269) at three different concentrations (low, medium and high) to determine the effects on *Salmonella* prevalence in feces and on hides. No differences were found among the three different doses for hides or at low and medium concentrations for feces. The high concentration of NP 51 and NP 24 tended (P = 0.09)

to shed less *Salmonella* in feces when compared to control. Brown et al. (2019) also observed no differences in fecal shedding of *Salmonella* when compared to control.

As mentioned previously, peripheral lymph nodes are reservoirs for Salmonella with a need for an efficacious pre-harvest intervention to reduce Salmonella prevalence in peripheral lymph nodes. Vipham et al. (2015) fed Lactobacillus acidophilus (NP 51) and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* (NP 24) as a direct fed microbial to steers (n = 1794) to determine if NP 51 and NP 24 were efficacious in reducing Salmonella prevalence in subiliac lymph nodes. Control cattle lymph nodes were 76.3% positive for Salmonella when compared to NP 51 and NP 24 cattle (57.5%) with 176 positives out of 310 lymph nodes in treated cattle and 240 positives out of 317 lymph nodes in control cattle. There was variation across the three slaughter days. Salmonella prevalence on first and second slaughter days was significantly reduced (P < 0.01) by 50% and 31%, respectively. There was no difference on slaughter day three (P = 0.18). This study conducted in a commercial feedlot setting was replicated at the Texas Tech University Research feedlot with a total of 112 steers and pens that consisted of approximately 4 steers (Vipham et al., 2015). Cattle fed NP 51 and NP 24 had a significant reduction of *Salmonella* prevalence in subiliac lymph nodes compared to control cattle and were 82% less likely to shed Salmonella. In an additional study by Brown et al. (2019), steers (n = 30) were fed three different blends of direct fed microbials (control, 1:1 ratio of Lactobacillus acidophilus and P. acidilactici; DFM2 or 1:2 ratio of Lactobacillus reuteri and other Lactobacilus strains; DFM3) and were then intradermally inoculated with Salmonella Montevideo at days 32, 37 and 42. Cattle were then necropsied on day 49 and day 50 where right and

left subiliac, popliteal, superficial cervical and superficial inguinal lymph nodes were collected from all cattle. Though no significant differences (P > 0.05) were observed in peripheral lymph nodes, *Salmonella* percent-positive peripheral lymph nodes tended (P =0.07) to be greater in control cattle (80%) when compared to DFM2 and DFM3 that were 63.8% and 68.8% positive, respectively.

The specific mode of action of direct-fed microbials is still unknown and few studies have been addressed the mechanism to which these direct-fed microbials reduce the shedding of pathogenic material. Several theories such as competitive attachment and inhibition leading to an increased immune response and overall better gut health (Krehbiel et al., 2003). Bacteria found in direct-fed microbials could potentially be competing with other bacteria for sites on the intestinal wall (Krehbiel et al., 2003). According to Gilliland and Speck (1977), lactobacilli species have shown inhibitory action against pathogenic bacteria such as *Salmonella*. Direct-fed microbials may also provide an immune response due to promotion of intestinal health through innate and adaptive immune responses against pathogenic bacteria (Krehbiel et al., 2003). These three theories overall promote improved gut health.

2.4 SUMMARY

Salmonella is becoming a rising concern in the meat industry due to pending laws and petitions filed by FSIS and Bill Marler. Due to the impracticality of removing all lymph nodes at harvest and fabrication, it is crucial for mitigation to occur at the finishing phase due to lymph nodes impervious to in-plant interventions that are implemented to reduce pathogenic load of E. coli. Direct-fed microbials may be the most viable option

for reduction in *Salmonella* in beef cattle during the finishing phase.

2.5 LITERATURE CITED

- Abouzeed, Y. M., H. Hariharan, C. Poppe, and F. S. Kibenge. 2000. Characterization of Salmonella isolates from beef cattle, broiler chickens and human sources on Prince Edward Island. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 23:253–266.
- Abney, C. S., J. T. Vasconcelos, J. P. McMeniman, S. A. Keyser, K. R. Wilson, G. J. Vogel, and M. L. Galyean. 2007. Effects of ractopamine hydrochloride on performance, rate and variation in feed intake, and acid-base balance in feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 85:3090–3098.
- Amachawadi, R. G., T. J.Purvis, B. V.Lubbers, J. W.Homm, C. L.Maxwell, and T. G. Nagaraja. 2017. Bacterial flora of liver abscesses in crossbred beef cattle and Holstein steers fed finishing diets with or without tylosin. J. Anim. Sci. 95:3425– 3434.
- Arthur, T. M., J. M. Bosilevac, D. M. Brichta-Harhay, N. Kalchayanand, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and M. Koohmaraie. 2008. Effects of a minimal hide wash cabinet on the levels and prevalence of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella on the hides of beef cattle at slaughter. J. Food Prot. 70:1076–1079.
- Bach, S. J., Y. Wang, and T. A. McAllister. 2008. Effect of seaweed (Ascophyllum nodosum) on fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157:H7 by feedlot cattle and on growth performance of lambs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 142:17–32.
- Bacon, R. T., J. N. Sofos, K. E. Belk, D. R. Hyatt, and G. C. Smith. 2002. Prevalence and antibiotic susceptibility of Salmonella isolated from beef animal hides and carcasses. J. Food Prot. 65:284–290.
- Barham, A. R., B. L. Barham, A. K. Johnson, D. M. Allen, J. R. Blanton, Jr., and M. F. Miller. 2002. Effects of the transportation of beef cattle from the feedyard to the packing plant on prevalence levels of Escherichia coli O157 and Salmonella spp. J. Food Prot. 65:280–283.
- Barkocy-Gallagher, G. A., E. D. Berry, M. Rivera-Betancourt, T. M. Arthur, X. Nou, and M. Koohmaraie. 2002. Development of methods for the recovery of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella from beef carcass sponge samples and bovine fecal and hide samples. J. Food Prot. 65:1527–1534.
- Barkocy-Gallagher, G. A., T. M. Arthur, M. Rivera-Betancourt, X. Nou, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and M. Koohmaraie 2003. Seasonal prevalence of Shiga toxin-

producing Escherichia coli, including O157:H7 and non-O157:H7 serotypes, and Salmonella in commercial beef processing plants. J. Food Prot. 66:1978–1986.

- Beach, J. C., E. A. Murano, and G. R. Acuff. 2002. Prevalence of Salmonella and Campylobacter in beef cattle from transport to slaughter. J. Food Prot. 65:1687– 1693.
- Boler, D. D., A. L. Shreck, D. B. Faulkner, J. Killelfer, F. K. McKeith, J. W. Homm, and J. A. Scanga. 2012. Effect of ractopamine hydrochloride (Optaflexx) dose on live animal performance, carcass characteristics and tenderness in early weaned beef steers. Meat Sci. 92:458–463.
- Bosilevac, J. M., M. N. Guerini, N. Kalchayanand, and M. Koohmaraie. 2009. Prevalence and characterization of Salmonella in commercial ground beef in the United States. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75:1892–1900.
- Bousso, P. 2008. T-cell activation by dendritic cells in the lymph node: lessons from the movies. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8: 675–684.
- Boykin, C. A., L. C. Eastwood, M. K. Harris, D. S. Hale, C. R. Kerth, D. B. Griffin, A. N.Arnold, J. D. Hasty, K. E.Belk, D. R.Woerner, R. J. Delmore, J. N. Martin, D. L. VanOverbeke, G. G. Mafi, M. M. Pfeiffer, T. E. Lawrence, T. J. McEvers, T. B. Schmidt, R. J. Maddock, D. D.Johnson, C. C.Carr, J. M. Scheffler, T. D. Pringle, A.M. Stelzleni, J. Gottlieb, and J. W. Savell. 2017. National Beef Quality Audit–2016: In-plant survey of carcass characteristics related to quality, quantity, and value of fed steers and heifers1. J. Anim. Sci. 95:2993–3002. doi:10.2527/jas.2017.1543
- Braden, K. W., J. R. Blanton, Jr., V. G. Allen, K. R. Pond, and M. F. Miller 2004. Ascophyllum nodosum supplementation: A preharvest intervention for reducing Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella spp. in feedlot steers. J. Food Prot. 67:1824–1828.
- Brashears, M. M., A. Amezquita and D. Jaroni. 2005. Lactic acid bacteria and their uses in animal feeding to improve food safety. Adv. Food Nutr. Res. 50: 1-31.
- Brashears, M. M., M. L. Galyean, G. H. Loneragan, J. E. Mann, and K. Killinger-Mann. 2003. Prevalence of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and performance by beef feedlot cattle given Lactobacillus direct fed microbials. J. Food Prot. 66:748–754.
- Brichta-Harhay, D. M., M. N. Guerini, T. M. Arthur, J. M. Bosilevac, N. Kalchayanand, S. D. Shackleford, T. L. Wheeler, and M. Koohmaraie. 2008. Salmonella and Escherichia coli O157:H7 contamination on hides and carcasses of cull cattle presented for slaughter in the United States: an evaluation of prevalence and

bacterial loads by immunomagnetic separation and direct plating methods. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74:6289–6297.

- Brown, T. R., T. S. Edrington, G. H. Loneragan, D. L. Hanson, K. Malin, J. J. Ison, and D. J. Nisbet. 2015. Investigation into possible differences in Salmonella prevalence in the peripheral lymph nodes of cattle derived from distinct production systems and of different breed types. J. Food Prot. 78:2081–2084.
- Brown, T. R., T. S. Edrington, K. J. Genovese, H. L. He, R. C. Anderson, and D. J. Nisbet. 2019. Evaluation of the efficacy of three direct fed microbial cocktails to reduce fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157: H7 in naturally colonized cattle and fecal shedding and peripheral lymph node carriage of Salmonella in experimentally infected cattle." J. Food Prot. 83:28-36.
- Buettner, M., & U. Bode. 2012. Lymph node dissection–understanding the immunological function of lymph nodes. Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 169:205-212.
- Buncic, S., and J. Sofos. 2012. Interventions to control Salmonella contamination during poultry, cattle and pig slaughter. *Food Research Int.* 45: 641-655.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2013. An Atlas of Salmonella in the United States, 1968-2011: Laboratory-based Enteric Disease Surveillance. Atlanta, Georgia: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2019. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2021. National Outbreak Reporting System Dashboard. Atlanta, Georgia: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC.
- Cernicchiaro, N., S. E. Ives, T. S. Edrington, T. G. Nagaraja, and D. G. Renter. 2016. Efficacy of a Salmonella siderophore receptor protein vaccine on fecal shedding and lymph node carriage of Salmonella in commercial feedlot cattle. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 13:517–525.
- Crump J. A., M. Sjölund-Karlsson, M. A. Gordon, C. M. Parry. 2015. Epidemiology, clinical presentation, laboratory diagnosis, antimicrobial resistance, and antimicrobial management of invasive Salmonella infections. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 28:901–937.
- Dargatz, D.A., P.J. Fedorka-Cray, S.R. Ladely, C.A. Kopral, K.E. Ferris, and M.L. Headrick. 2003. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of Salmonella spp.

isolates from US cattle in feedlots in 1999 and 2000. J. App. Microbiol. 95:753-761.

- Dewell, G. A., C. A. Simpson, R. D. Dewell, D. R. Hyatt, K. E. Belk, J. A. Scanga, P. S. Morley, T. Grandin, G. C. Smith, D. A. Dargatz, B. A. Wagner, and M. D. Salman. 2008. Risk associated with transportation and lairage on hide contamination with Salmonella enterica in finished beef cattle at slaughter. J. Food Prot. 71:2228–2232.
- Edrington, T. S., K. J. Genovese, T. Callaway, C. Schultz, R. C. Anderson and D. J. Nisbet. 2005. Influence of ractopamine supplementation on Salmonella in feeder pigs. Oral Presentation. Safe Pork Conference.
- Edrington, T. S., G. H. Loneragan, J. Hill, K. J. Genovese, D. M. Brichta-Harhay, R. L. Farrow, N. A. Krueger, T. R. Callaway, R. C. Anderson, and D. J. Nisbet. 2013a. Development of challenge models to evaluate the efficacy of a vaccine to reduce carriage of Salmonella in peripheral lymph nodes of cattle. J. Food Prot. 76:1259–1263.
- Edrington, T. S., G. H. Loneragan, J. Hill, K. J. Genovese, H. He, T. R. Callaway, R. C. Anderson, D. M. Brichta-Harhay, and D. J. Nisbet. 2013b. Development of a transdermal Salmonella challenge model in calves. J. Food Prot. 76:1255–1258.
- Edrington, T. S., T. M. Arthur, G. H. Loneragan, K. J. Genovese, D. L. Hanson, R. C. Anderson, and D. J. Nisbet. 2020. Evaluation of two commercially-available Salmonella vaccines on Salmonella in the peripheral lymph nodes of experimentally-infected cattle. Therapeutic Advances in Vaccines and Immunotherapy. 8:1-7.
- Edrington, T. S., T. R. Callaway, S. E. Ives, M. J. Engler, T. H. Welsh, D. M. Hallford, K. J. Genovese, R. C. Anderson, and D. J. Nisbet. 2006. Effect of ractopamine HCl supplementation on fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella in feedlot cattle. Curr. Microbiol. 53:340–345.
- Farrow, R. L. 2011. Quantitative herd-level evaluation of a commercially available vaccine for control of Salmonella in dairy cattle. Ph.D. dissertation. Texas A&M University, College Station.
- Fedorka-Cray, P. J., D. A. Dargatz, L. A. Thomas, and J. T. Gray. 1998. Survey of Salmonella serotypes in feedlot cattle. J. Food Prot. 61:525–530.
- Fegan, N., P. Vanderlinde, G. Higgs, and P. Desmarchelier. 2004. Quantitation and prevalence of Salmonella in beef cattle presenting at slaughter. J. Appl. Microbiol. 97:892–898.

- FSIS. 2019. Changes to the *Salmonella* Verification Testing Program: Proposed Performance Standards for *Salmonella* in Raw Ground Beef and Beef Manufacturing Trimmings and Related Agency Verification Procedures. 84:57688-57695.
- Gast, R.K. and Beard, C.W. 1990. Production of *Salmonella Enteritidis*-contaminated eggs by experimentally infected hens. Avian Dis. 34:438–446.
- Gerlach, R. G. and M. Hensel. 2007. Salmonella pathogenicity islands in host specificity host pathogen-interactions and antibiotic resistance of Salmonella enterica. Berl. Munch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.120:317-327.
- Gilliland, S. E., and M. L. Speck. 1977. Antagonistic action of Lactobacillus acidophilus toward intestinal and food borne pathogens in associative cultures. J. Food Prot. 40:820–823
- Gragg, S. E., G. H. Loneragan, K. K. Nightingale, D. M. BrichtaHarhay, H. Ruiz, J. R. Elder, L. G. Garcia, M. F. Miller, A. Echeverry, R. G. Ram'ırez Porras, and M. M. Brashears. 2013a. Substantial within-animal diversity of Salmonella isolates from lymph nodes, feces, and hides of cattle at slaughter. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:4744–4750.
- Gragg, S.E., G.H. Loneragan, M.M. Brashears, T.M. Arthur, J.M. Bosilevac, N.
 Kalchayanand, R. Wang, J.W. Schmidt, J.C. Brooks, S.D. Shackelford, T.L.
 Wheeler, T.R. Brown, T.S. Edrington, D.M. Brichta-Harhay. 2013b. Cross-sectional study examining Salmonella enterica carriage in subiliac lymph nodes of cull and feedlot cattle at harvest. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 10:368-374.
- Gray, E. E., & Cyster, J. G. 2012. Lymph node macrophages. J. of Innate Imm. 4:424-436.
- Haneklaus, A. N., K. B. Harris, D. B. Griffin, T. S. Edrington, L. M. Lucia, and J. W. Savell. 2012. Salmonella prevalence in bovine lymph nodes differs among feedyards. J. Food Prot. 75:1131–1133.
- Hanson, D. L., J. J. Ison, K. S. Malin, and H. E. Webb. 2019. Salmonella White Paper Beef Industry Food Safety Council. https://www.bifsco.org/Media/BIFSCO/Docs/bifsco_salmonellawhitepaper_3-16.pdf
- Herrick, R. T. 2018. Experiments towards a greater understand of the liver abscess complex in fed beef. Thesis. West Texas A&M University.
- Hohmann, E. L. 2001. Nontyphoidal salmonellosis. Clin. Infect. Dis. 32:263–269.

- Holzer, K. 2017. Effects of potential Tylosin substitutes on Salmonella prevalence and the microbiome of subiliac lymph nodes of beef feedlot cattle. Thesis. Colorado State University.
- Holzer, K. 2020. The complicated relationship between Salmonella and the Lymph Node. FSNS. https://fsns.com/2020/02/19/the-complicated-relationship-betweensalmonella-and-the-lymph-node/
- Horton, B. C., K. B. Gehring, J. E. Sawyer and A. N. Arnold. 2020. Evaluation of Autogenous Vaccine Use in Mitigating Salmonella in Lymph Nodes from Feedlot Cattle in Texas. J. Food Prot. 84:80–86.
- Interagency Food Safety Analytics Collaboration. 2020. Foodborne illness source attribution estimates for 2018 for Salmonella, Escherichia coli O157, Listeria monocytogenes, and Campylobacter using multi-year outbreak surveillance data, United States. GA and D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Food and Drug Administration, U.S. Department of Agriculture's Food Safety and Inspection Service.
- Jones T. F., L.A Ingram, P. R. Cieslak, D. J. Vugia, M. Tobin-D'Angelo, S. Hurd, C. Medus, A. Cronquist and F. J. Angulo. Salmonellosis outcomes differ substantially by serotype. J Infect Dis. 2008. 198(1):109–14.
- Krehbiel, C. R., S. R. Rust, G. Zhang, and S. E. Gilliland. 2003. Bacterial direct-fed microbials in ruminant diets: Performance response and mode of action. J. Anim. Sci. 81(E. Suppl. 2):E120–E132.
- Kochevar, S. L., J. N. Sofos, R. R. Bolin, J. O. Reagan, and G. C. Smith. 1997. Steamvacuuming as a pre-evisceration intervention to decontaminate beef carcasses. J. Food Prot. 60:107–113.
- Koohmaraie, M., T. M. Arthur, J. M. Bosilevac, M. Guerini, S. D. Shackelford, and T. L. Wheeler. 2005. Post-harvest interventions to reduce/eliminate pathogens in beef. Meat Sci. 71:79–91.
- Koohmaraie, M., J. A. Scanga, M. J. De La Zerda, B. Koohmaraie, L. Topay, V. Beskhlebnaya, T. Mai, K. Greeson, and M. Samadpour. 2012. Tracking the sources of Salmonella in ground beef produced from nonfed cattle. J. Food Prot. 75:1464– 1468.
- Kunze, D. J., G. H. Loneragan, T. M. Platt, M. F. Miller, T. E. Besser, M. Koohmaraie, T. Stephens, and M. M. Brashears. 2008. Salmonella enterica burden in harvestready cattle populations from the southern high plains of the United States. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74:345–351.

- Li, M., S. Malladi, H. S. Hurd, T. J. Goldsmith, D. M. BrichtaHarhay, and G. H. Loneragan. 2015. Salmonella spp. in lymph nodes of fed and cull cattle: relative assessment of risk to ground beef. Food Control 50:423–434.
- Loneragan, G. H., D. U. Thomson, R. M. McCarthy, H. E. Webb, A. E. Daniels, T. S. Edrington, D. J. Nisbet, S. J. Trojan, S. C. Rankin, and M. M. Brashears. 2012. Salmonella diversity and burden in cows on and culled from dairy farms in the Texas high plains. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 9:549–555.
- Mackenzie, A. M., M. Drennan, T. G. Rowan, J. B. Dixon, and S. D. Carter. 1997. Effect of transportation and weaning on humoral immune responses of calves. Res. Vet. Sci. 63:227–230.
- Marcus, S. L., J. H. Brumell, C. G. Pfeifer, and B. B. Finlay. 2000. Salmonella pathogenicity islands: big virulence in small packages. Microbes Infect. 2:145-156.
- McAllister, T. A., K. A. Beauchemin, A. Y. Alazzeh, J. Baah, R. M. Teather, and K. Stanford. 2011. Review: The use of direct fed microbials to mitigate pathogens and enhane production in cattle. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91:193–211.
- McEvoy, J. M., A. M. Doherty, M. Finnerty et al. 2000. The relationship between hide cleanliness and bacterial numbers on beef carcasses at a commercial abattoir. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 30:390–395.
- McEvoy, J. M., A. M. Doherty, J. J. Sheridan, I. S. Blair, and D. A. McDowell 2003. The prevalence of Salmonella spp. in bovine faecal, rumen and carcass samples at a commercial abattoir. J. Appl. Microbiol. 94:693–700.
- Moore, M. C., G. D. Gray, D. S. Hale, C. R. Kerth, D. B. Griffin, J. W. Savell, C. R.
 Raines, K. E. Belk, D. R. Woerner, J. D. Tatum, J. L. Igo, D. L. VanOverbeke, G.
 G. Mafi, T. E. Lawrence, R. J. Delmore Jr., L. M. Christensen, S. D. Shackelford,
 D. A. King, T. L. Wheeler, L. R. Meadows, and M. E. O'Connor. 2012. National
 Beef Quality Audit–2011: In-plant survey of targeted carcass characteristics
 related to quality, quantity, value, and marketing of fed steers and heifers. J.
 Anim. Sci. 90:5143–5151.
- Nickelson, K. J., T. M. Taylor, D. B. Griffin, J. W. Savell, K. B. Gehring, and A. N. Arnold. 2019. Assessment of Salmonella prevalence in lymph nodes of U.S. and Mexican cattle presented for slaughter in Texas. J. Food Prot. 82:310–315.
- Olafson, P. U., T. R. Brown, K. H. Lohmeyer, R. B. Harvey, D. J. Nisbet, G. H. Loneragan, and T. S. Edrington. 2016. Assessing transmission of Salmonella to bovine peripheral lymph nodes upon horn fly feeding. J. Food Prot. 79:1135– 1142.

- Pyörälä, S., K. E. Baptiste, B. Catry, E. van Duijkere, C. Greko, M. A. Moreno, M. C. Pomba, M. Rantala, M. Ružauskas, P. Sanders, E. J. Threlfall, J. Torren-Endo, and K. Törneke. 2014. Macrolides and lincosamides in cattle and pigs: Use and development of antimicrobial resistance. Vet J. 200:230–239.
- Quiroz-Santiago, C., O. R. Rodas-Suárez, C. R. Vázquez Q, F. J. Fernández, E. I. Quiñones-Ramírez, and C. Vázquez-Salinas. 2009. Prevalence of Salmonella in vegetables from Mexico. J. Food Prot. 72:1279-1282.
- Rivera-Betancourt, M., S. D. Shackelford, T. M. Arthur, K. E. Westmoreland, G. Bellinger, M. Rossman, J. O. Reagan, and M. Koohmaraie. 2004. Prevalence of Escherichia coli O157:H7, Listeria monocytogenes, and Salmonella in two geographically distant commercial beef processing plants in the United States. J. Food Prot. 67:295–302.
- Samuel, J.L., Eccles, J.A. and Francis, J. 1981. *Salmonella* in the intestinal tract and associated lymph nodes of sheep and cattle. J. of Hygiene. 87:225–232
- Scallan, E., R. M. Hoekstra, F. J. Angulo, R. V. Tauxe, M. Widdowson, S. L. Roy, P. M. Griffin. 2011. Foodborne Illness Acquired in the United States—Major Pathogens. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 17:7-15.
- Scharff, R. L. 2012. Economic burden from health losses due to foodborne illness in the United States. J. Food Prot. 75:123–131.
- Scramlin, S. M., W. J. Platter, R. J. Gomez, W. T. Choat, F. T. McKeith, and J. Killefer. 2010. Comparative effects of ractopamine hydrochloride and zilpaterol hydrochloride on growth performance, carcass traits, and longissimus tenderness of finishing steers. J. Anim. Sci. 88:1823–1829.
- Sheridan, J. J. 1998. Source of contamination during slaughter and measures for control. J. Food Saf. 18:321–339.
- Stephens, T. P., G. H. Longeragan, E. Karunasena, and M. M. Brashears 2007. Reduction of Escherichia coli O157 and Salmonella in feces and on hides of feedlot cattle using various doses of a direct-fed microbial. J. Food Prot.70:2386–2391.
- Tabe, E. S., J. Oloya, D. K. Doetkott, M. L. Bauer, P. S. Gibbs, and M. L. Khaitsa. 2008. Comparative effect of direct-fed microbials on fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella in naturally infected feedlot cattle. J. Food Prot. 71:539– 544.
- USDA. 1996. USDA-APHIS: EHEC O157 0157 and Salmonella—Status on U.S. dairy operations. Centers for Epidemiology and Animal Health. Fort Collins, Colorado.

- U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food Safety and Inspection Service. 2004. FSIS Directive 10,010.1, Revision 1. Microbiological testing program and other verification activities for Escherichia coli O157:H7 in raw ground beef products and raw ground beef components and beef patty components. Available at: http://www.fsis.usda.gov/OPPDE/rdad/FSISDirectives/10.010.pdf. Accessed 9 May 2021.
- USDA FSIS. Quarterly progress report on Salmonella testing of selected raw meat and poultry products: preliminary results.http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/wcm/connect/ec88dd42-25d3-4183-a29f-c52ccbcb9da5/Q1_2011_Salmonella_Testing.pdf?MOD=AJPERES. Accessed 18 September 2013.
- Vipham, J. L., G. H. Loneragan, L. M. Guillen, J. C. Brooks, B. J. Johnson, A. Pond, N. Pond, and M. M. Brashears. 2015. Reduced burden of Salmonella enterica in bovine subiliac lymph nodes associated with administration of a direct-fed microbial. Zoonoses and Public Health. 62:599-608.
- Webb, H. E., D. M. Brichta-Harhay, M. M. Brashears, K. K. Nightingale, T. M. Arthur, J. M. Bosilevac, N. Kalchayanand, J. W. Schmidt, R. Wang, S. A. Granier, T. R. Brown, T. S. Edrington, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and G. H. Loneragan. 2017. Salmonella in peripheral lymph nodes of healthy cattle at slaughter. Front. Microbiol. 8:2214.
- Willard-Mack, C. L. 2006. Normal structure, function, and histology of lymph nodes. Toxicologic Path. 34:409-424.
- Younts-Dahl, S. M., M. L. Galyean, G. H. Lonergan, N. A. Elam, and M. M. Brashears. 2004. Dietary supplementation with Lactobacillus- and Propionibacterium-based direct-fed microbials and prevalence of Escherichia coli O157 in beef feedlot cattle and on hides at harvest. J. Food Prot. 67:889–893.
- Zhou, M., M. Hünerberg, Y. Chen, T. Reuter, T. A. McAllister, F. Evans, A. T. Critchley, and L. L. Guana. 2018. Air-dried brown seaweed, *Ascophyllum nodosum*, alters the rumen microbiome in a manner that changes rumen fermentation profiles and lowers the prevalence of foodborne pathogens. mSphere 3:e00017–00018

CHAPTER 3:

EFFECT OF A DIRECT-FED MICROBIAL (10-G ARMOUR) ON FEEDLOT PERFORMANCE, CARCASS CHARACTERISTICS AND PREVALENCE OF SALMONELLA IN FED BEEF HEIFERS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

An estimated 48 million cases of foodborne illness occur annually in the United States; non-typhoidal *Salmonella* is a top five cause with 1.35 million cases, 26,500 hospitalizations and 420 deaths (CDC, 2019). *Salmonella* is a naturally occurring bacterial pathogen historically associated with poultry (Whyte et al., 2002; Parveen et al., 2007; Foley et al., 2008) and eggs (Jones et al., 1995; Singh et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2012), but also known to be a risk in produce (Wells and Butterfield, 1997; Quiroz-Santiago et al., 2009; Sant'Ana et al., 2011). However, recent data suggests beef products are also susceptible to *Salmonella* contamination (Rose et al., 2002; Zaidi et al., 2006; Sallam et al., 2014). Lymph nodes in beef cattle are known to harbor *Salmonella* (Samuel et al., 1981; Arthur et al., 2008; Brown et al., 2019); further, the ability to remove all lymph nodes (~115 lymph nodes; Budras et al., 2003) is impractical. As a result, lymph nodes may be incorporated into ground beef trimmings, thus increasing the risk of *Salmonella* contaminated ground beef (Bosilevac et al., 2009; Arthur et al., 2008; Koohmaraie et al., 2012). *Salmonella* prevalence differs seasonally; frequency peaks during the summer through early fall and troughs during the winter (Barkocy-Gallagher et al, 2003; Dargatz et al., 2003; McEvoy et al., 2003). Feedyard location also impacts *Salmonella* prevalence; southern regions having a higher prevalence of *Salmonella* than northern regions (Dargatz et al., 2003; Rivera-Betancourt et al., 2004; Haneklaus et al., 2012). Additionally, cattle type impacts *Salmonella* prevalence; feedlot cattle are more frequent carriers than cull cattle (Gragg et al., 2013b; Webb et al., 2017). Fed Holstein steers had a higher prevalence of *Salmonella* than beef-type steers, whereas cull dairy cows had a higher prevalence than range cows (Herrick, 2018).

Effective intervention technologies implemented to decrease *Salmonella* include vaccines (Edrington et al., 2013; Cernicchiaro et al., 2016) and various feed additives including seaweed extract (Braden et al., 2004), tylosin (Amachawadi et al., 2017; Holzer, 2017), and direct-fed microbials (Stephens et al., 2007; Vipham et al., 2015; Brown et al., 2019). Direct-fed microbials (DFMs) are commonly used in the industry to improve performance and reduce the pathogenic load in cattle. Shedding of *Salmonella* has been reported to be reduced by DFMs (Stephens et al., 2007; Vipham et al., 2015; Brown et al., 2019), while others report no difference (Tabe et al., 2008). The objective of this study was to determine if direct-fed microbials can decrease the population of *Salmonella* located in fecal matter and lymph nodes.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

The feeding portion of this experiment was conducted at Wrangler Feedyard (Tulia, TX). All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at West Texas A&M University (#2020.02.003).

3.2.1 Cattle Processing and Experimental Design

Heifers (n=1,925) were received at Wrangler Feedyard (Tulia, TX) between 28 February 2020 and 14 March 2020 from Texas, Alabama and Tennessee. Prior to initial processing, cattle were penned together by source and were provided *ad libitum* access to water and coastal Bermuda grass hay. During initial processing, heifers were excluded from the trial if they weighed 68 kg greater than or less than pay weight, deemed unfit due to illness, lameness, or pregnant. Heifers were initially implanted with Revalor-IH (Merck Animal Health, Summit, NJ) and at re-implant (77-79 DOF) received Revalor-200 (Merck Animal Health). Heifers were administered Titanium 3 (Elanco Animal Health, Indianapolis, IN) and Nasalgen IP (Merck Animal Health) for viral respiratory pathogens. Internal and external parasites were controlled for through administration of Synanthic (Boehriner Ingelheim, Duluth, GA) and Dectomax Injectable (Zoetis, Parsippany, NJ). Heifers were identified with visual eartags that contained the last three digits of the lot associated with the pen as well as an individual number specific to the animal.

In total, 1,400 heifers $(291 \pm 9.9 \text{ kg})$ were enrolled in this study in a randomized complete block design with time of arrival as blocking factor and pen as experimental unit. Each arrival block (n=5) contained four pens with two replications of each dietary treatment. Pens (n=20) each housed 70 heifers. Animals were randomly assigned to pens within blocks using a computer-generated schedule. Heifers were randomly allocated to one of two treatments; 0 grams/animal/day (CON) or 2 grams/animal/day (TRT) of 10-G Armour (Life Products, Inc., Norfolk, NE) to provide 1 billion CFUs per animal per day

of *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Enterococcus faecium*, *Pediococcus pentosaceus*, *Lactobacillus brevis* and *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Within each pen, 24 candidate animals were randomly identified for longitudinal Salmonella sampling. Individual BW was collected at initial processing and re-implant; whereas, pen BW were collected on day 0, day 40 and prior to harvest using a platform scale (Model 7531, Mettler-Toledo, Columbus, OH) prior to the morning feeding.

A two percent pencil shrink was applied for day 0 and day 40 body weights, whereas a four percent pencil shrink was applied to final body weight. After randomization but prior to day 0, five heifers assigned to CON treatment died. The cause of death was liver failure (1), peritonitis (2) and bovine respiratory disease (2). Also prior to day 0, one heifer was removed from a TRT pen due to being pregnant. Upon arrival, all cattle received a starter diet that consisted of RAMP (Cargill Corn Milling, Bovina, TX) and hay for ~3 days. Cattle were then transitioned to a finishing diet in which RAMP was reduced every two to four days at 10 to 15% rate. Both starter and finishing diets included monensin (Rumensin, Elanco Animal Health) and tylosin (Tylan, Elanco Animal Health). Finishing diets also included melengesterol acetate (HeifermaX 500, Elanco Animal Health). In addition, racotopamine hydrochloride (Optaflexx, Elanco Animal Health) was fed for the final 35 days prior to slaughter. Inclusion of micro-nutrients occurred via a Micro Machine (Micro Technologies, Amarillo, TX) and were added directly to each feed batch. 10-G Armour was dispensed independently from the Micro Machine (Micro Technologies) into the ration after it was loaded into the delivery truck and mixed for three minutes.

3.2.2 Sample and Data Collection

A longitudinal design was used to investigate Salmonella shedding, with 24 candidate animals selected from each pen. Recto-anal mucosal swab samples (RAMS) were collected during initial processing (-2 d) and at harvest. A sterile foam-tipped applicator swab (FecalSwab[®], COPANUSA, Murrieta, CA) was inserted three to five cm into the recto-anal canal junction of each designated heifer. The swab was then placed into a sterile sample bag (WhirlPak, Nasco, Modesto, CA) that was labeled with a sample number that was correlated back to the heifer ID and sealed. Composite fecal pat samples were collected from each pen on day 0, 52, 120 and 192. Each composite samples per pen. All bags were labeled with the appropriate pen number and sample day. The left or right subiliac lymph node (n = 429) was collected from each sample animal at harvest. Lymph nodes were excised, kept intact and encased in fat, placed in a bag with a label corresponding to the sample animal. All samples were placed on wet ice and shipped to Food Safety Net Services (FSNS, San Antonio, TX) for diagnostic analysis.

Carcass data was collected by trained personnel from the West Texas A&M University- Beef Carcass Research Center (Canyon, TX). Eartags were individually recorded and assigned an individual identification by WTAMU personnel. Livers were scored using a modified Elanco Liver Check System (Brown and Lawrence, 2010) where abscesses were evaluated based on severity (edible = no abscesses, A - = 1 or 2 small abscesses, A = 2 to 4 small active abscesses, A + = 1 or more large active abscesses, A+Adhesion = liver adhered to gastrointestinal tract, A+Open = open liver abscesses). Additionally, other liver abnormalities including telangiectasis, cirrhosis, flukes, and contamination were recorded. Individual lungs were evaluated to determine the presence and severity of lung lesions, interlobular adhesions, and plural adhesions, and missing lobes were recorded. Lung scores were N = normal; 1 = presence of mycoplasma-like lesion greater than 25%; 2 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting <25% of lung tissue; 3 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >25% to 50% of lung tissue; 4 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >25% to 50% of lung tissue; 4 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >50% to 75% of lung tissue; and 5 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >75% of lung tissue. Lungs that were contaminated, inflated or skipped received a C, I, or S score, respectively. Hot carcass weight was recorded on the harvest floor. Carcass characteristics (marbling, quality grade, 12th-rib subcutaneous fat depth, longissimus muscle area, yield grade) were obtained from USDA camera data.

3.2.3 Salmonella Analysis

Upon arrival at Food Safety Net Services, ten grams of a composite fecal sample were weighed and inserted into a sterile Whirl Pak bag with 90 ml of buffered peptone water. Samples were hand massaged for 30 seconds to create a homogenous sample. Sample liquid of Rectal Swabs was directly transferred to first well of plates.

Lymph node samples were trimmed of excess fat and fascia and submerged into boiling water for three to five seconds to rid the lymph node of any *Salmonella* on the exterior. Lymph nodes were then individually placed into stomacher sample bags and weighed, pulverized by a rubber mallet and enriched with 80 ml of tryptic soy broth through incubation at 25°C for 2 hours and then 42°C for 12 hours (Brichta-Harhay et al., 2012; Gragg et al., 2013b). Each sample was replicated three times and serially diluted eight times onto a 96 well plate with four samples per well pin. One ml aliquot was put into each well pin with a serial dilution of 10⁻⁸ through 10⁻¹. The well pin plate was then covered and incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. After incubation 96 well pin replicator was used to transfer growth from incubated plates to 1 ml RV broth aliquots. The replicated well pins were covered and incubated at 42°C for 24 to 48 hours. After incubation, all samples that were indicative of growth changed colors and were streaked on to XLD plates and incubated at 35°C for 24 hours. After 24 hours, plates that had colony growth were presumed positive for *Salmonella* and underwent serological confirmation with Poly O antisera to confirm *Salmonella*.

3.2.4 Statistical Analysis

The GLIMMIX procedure of SAS (SAS Inst. INC., Cary, NC) was used to analyze all data with least square means determined through use of the LSMEANS option. The model included the fixed effect as treatment and random effect as block with pen as experimental unit. Repeated measures was used to analyze *Salmonella* prevalence and concentration across time using the unstructured covariance structure.

3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.3.1 Live Performance

Initial BW (Table 2) did not differ (P = 0.95) among treatment groups (CON = 290.9 kg, 10-G = 291.0 kg) nor did final body weight (P = 0.79; CON = 543.0 kg, 10-G =

545.3 kg). In a study by Adeyemi et al. (2019), newly weaned steers (n = 40) were supplemented with 19 g of a Saccharomyces cerevisiae-based direct-fed microbial for 42 days; steers fed the DFM gained 10 kg more than the control steers after the 42 day receiving period. In contrast Stephens et al. (2007) observed that steers on feed for 139 days and supplemented with 400 mg per animal per day of S. cerevisiae and L. acidophilus did not have a differing final body weight when compared to control. Heifers supplemented with 10-G did not differ (P = 0.69) in average daily gain (1.38 kg) when compared to control (1.37 kg). In contrast, Kenney et al. (2015) reported a greater average daily gain in steers fed 10-G (1.87 kg) when compared to steers fed Bovamine (1.75 kg); however, average daily gain did not differ between control and 10-G fed cattle. Gain:Feed ratio did not differ (P = 0.81) among treatments (CON = 0.154; 10-G = 0.155)). Stephens et al. (2010) also reported no difference in average daily gain and feed efficiency between treated and control cattle. Dry matter intake was similar (P = 0.63) among treatments (CON = 8.89 kg, 10 - G = 8.98 kg) which is consistent with the findings from Kenney et al. (2015). Likewise, Cull et al. (2015) reported no difference in dry matter intake between control cattle (8.87 kg) and cattle supplemented with Bovamine (8.85 kg). Morbidity rate for cattle pulled did not differ (P = 0.90) among treatments nor did mortalities and railers (P = 0.55). In contrast, Keyser et al. (2007) supplemented heifers with 1 g of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* through an oral paste at processing were reported to have a lower percentage (13.78%) of cattle treated for bovine respiratory disease when compared to control (24.0%).

3.3.2 Carcass Performance

Hot carcass weight (Table 4) did not differ (P = 0.14; CON = 370.5; 10-G = 374.2) between treatments. Hot carcass weight did not differ between treatments reported in Kenney et al. (2015). Wilson et al. (2016) fed wet distillers grain or dryrolled corn with or without Bovamine and reported no difference in hot carcass weight for both Bovamine and Bovamine x Diet. Dressed yield was similar (P = 0.53) for treated and control cattle (64.8 v 64.9%, respectively). Calculated empty body fat (P =(0.71), ribeye area (P = 0.13), marbling (P = 0.20) and 12^{th} -rib fat thickness (P = 0.73) also did not differ among dietary treatments. Wilson et al. (2016) also reported no differences for 12th-rib fat thickness, ribeye area and marbling score between control and Bovamine-fed cattle. However, Brashears et al. (2003) compared Lactobacillus acidophilus NPC 747 and Lactobacillus acidophilus NPC 750; NPC 750 tended to have less marbling when compared to NPC 747. Ribeye area also tended to be smaller in control cattle when compared to NPC 750 and NPC 747. Percentage Prime and No Roll carcasses were not affected by supplementation of 10-G ($P \ge 0.71$). Heifers supplemented with 10-G tended (P = 0.06) to produce less USDA Select carcasses and tended (P = 0.09) to produce more USDA choice carcasses when compared to control cattle (20.34%). Elam et al. (2003) reported no differences between distribution of Choice and Prime versus Select and Standard in the feeding of various Lactobacillus cultures and Propionibacterium freudenreichii. Yield grade distributions did not differ between treatment groups ($P \ge 0.66$). Dick et al. (2013) fed various concentrations (0, 1)

x 10^5 , 1 x 10^6) of Bovamine (NP 51) to calf-fed Holstein steers and reported a 2.6 yield grade for all three concentrations.

3.3.3 Liver and Lung Outcomes

Percentage of edible livers (Table 3) for treated and control cattle were 84.54 and 81.53%, respectively and did not differ (P = 0.17) between treatments. Heifers in this study had numerically higher edible liver incidence rates when compared to 76.9% edible livers for cattle in the High Plains reported by Herrick (2018). In contrast, Brown and Lawrence (2010) reported 81.9% edible rate for cattle assessed (n = 72,255). Conversely, heifers fed 10-G tended (P = 0.10) to have a lower frequency of abscesses (9.23%) when compared to control (12.26%). This is consistent with data reported by Brown and Lawrence (2010) where liver abscesses occurred at a 12.2% rate. However, total severe abscess (A+, A+Open, A+Adhesion) incidence rate differed between dietary treatments ($P \le 0.05$) with control cattle having 8.51% total severely abscessed livers, whereas treated cattle had 5.27% severely abscessed livers. Severely abscessed incidence rate for CON was numerically higher than the 6.0% incidence rate reported by the National Beef Quality Audit (Eastwood et al., 2016). Livers condemned for reasons other than abscesses (flukes, telangiectasis, cirrhosis, contamination) did not differ ($P \ge 1$ 0.28).

Incidence of lungs (Table 3) without lesions, mycoplasma or consolidation (normal) was 72.62 and 71.93% for 10-G and control cattle, respectively. Lungs scored a one, two, three, five or condemned did not differ ($P \ge 0.17$) between treatments. However, lungs with less than 75 percent adhesion or consolidation (score four) tended (P = 0.10) to be more frequent in cattle fed 10-G (5.38%) when compared to control (3.38%). Likewise, inflation of lungs tended (P = 0.10) to occur more frequently in control cattle (1.69%) over treated (0.62%).

3.3.4 Salmonella prevalence

Fecal Pats

Salmonella prevalence in fecal pats (Table 5) did not differ (P = 0.73) between dietary treatments (10-G = 67.0%, CON = 69.0%). Brown et al. (2019) reported control and cattle supplemented with either a 1:1 ratio of Lactobacillus acidophilus and Pediococcus acidilactici or a 1:2 ratio of Lactobacillus reuteri and other Lactobacillus strains were 90.0, 86.7 and 100.0% positive for Salmonella. Likewise, Gragg et al. (2013a) reported Salmonella was recovered from 94.1% of cattle sampled. However, a time effect (P < 0.01) was observed across the sampling periods. Salmonella was present in 16 percent of all samples on 0 d and increased to 98 percent on 52 d; whereas, prevalence across sample 120 d and 200 d were similar (78.0 and 80.0%, respectively). Log of Salmonella followed the same pattern as prevalence rates with an initial log of 0.63 mpn/g followed by a significant increase before plateauing at a log of 3.11 mpn/g on 192 d. A timing effect is most likely due to seasonality. Salmonella is known to increase in warmer months and decline in cooler months. Barkocy-Gallagher et al. (2003) reported *Salmonella* prevalence to be highest in summer (9.1%), whereas prevalence in fall, winter and spring were 2.8, 2.5 and 2.1%, respectively. Dargatz et al. (2003) also reported that warm season months were significantly higher for *Salmonella* prevalence when compared to cool season. Salmonella log did not differ (P = 0.70), but a time

effect (P < 0.01) was observed between treatments. Log concentration increased (P < 0.01) sharply from 0 d to 52 d and plateaued for the remainder of the finishing period. The significant increase in log concentration is most likely due to cattle being exposed to *Salmonella* within the first 52 days at the feedyard as well as other stressors including commingling, new environment and new diet.

Rectoanal Mucosal Swabs

Salmonella prevalence of RAMs did not differ (P = 0.92) between treated (55.05%) and control cattle (55.30%) across the finishing period. In contrast, Tabe et al. (2008) reported a numerically lower number for *Samonella* prevalence in fecal grabs (12.9%) from control animals as well as steers supplemented with 1x10⁹ CFU of *L. acidophilus* (LA 51) and 1x10⁹ CFU of *P. freudenreichii* (PF 24). However, *Salmonella* prevalence increased (P < 0.05) exponentially from initial processing (11.55%) to harvest (98.80%). Increased prevalence can also be attributed to seasonality of *Salmonella* with higher rates detected in warmer seasons and lower rates in cooler seasons (Barkocy-Gallagher et al., 2003; Dargatz et al., 2003). Overall log concentration (mpn/g) between dietary treatments did not differ (P = 0.63; 10-G = 2.17, CON = 2.34). Initial log of rectoanal mucosal swabs was 0.29 mpn/g which increased to 4.22 mpn/g on day of harvest. The increase of log can be explained because of the increase in prevalence, which in return would lead to a higher overall log concentration.

Lymph Nodes

Cattle fed 10-G had a lower frequency (P = 0.01; 7.42%) of *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes when compared to control (15.80%). Vipham et al. (2015) supplemented cattle with *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (NP 51) and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* (NP 24) which resulted in reduction of *Salmonella* in subiliac lymph nodes with treated and control cattle 57.5 and 76.3% positive, respectively. In addition, Brown et al. (2019) fed different blends of direct-fed microbials and reported that control cattle tended to have a greater percent-positive for *Salmonella* in peripheral lymph nodes when compared to treated cattle. *Salmonella* log (mpn/g) of the lymph nodes did not differ (P = 0.34) between dietary treatments (10-G = 0.34, CON = 0.73). Webb et al. (2017) reported log concentrations ranging from 1.6 to 4.9 log₁₀ CFU/PLN from 160 quantifiable subiliac lymph nodes collected. Log of lymph nodes from 10-G cattle was slightly higher (3.88 mpn/g) when compared to control cattle (3.30 mpn/g).

3.4 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the supplementation of 10-G Armour significantly reduced the frequency of *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes. While reduction of *Salmonella* in the lymph nodes is not necessarily important to the producer, feeding 10-G Armour would be of benefit due to the decrease in USDA Select carcasses and an increase in USDA Choice carcasses. Though log did not differ between treated and control cattle, packers would benefit from this product due to the decrease in *Salmonella* positive lymph nodes resulting in fewer adulterated lymph nodes entering beef trim.

3.5 REFERENCES

- Adeyemi, J. A., S. O. Peters, M. De Donato, A. P. Cervantes, and I. M. Ogunade. 2020. Effects of a blend of Saccharomyces cerevisiae-based direct-fed microbial and fermentation products on plasma carbonyl-metabolome and fecal bacterial community of beef steers. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:14.
- Amachawadi, R. G., T. J.Purvis, B. V.Lubbers, J. W.Homm, C. L.Maxwell, and T. G. Nagaraja. 2017. Bacterial flora of liver abscesses in crossbred beef cattle and Holstein steers fed finishing diets with or without tylosin. J. Anim. Sci. 95:3425– 3434.
- Arthur, T. M., D. M. Brichta-Harhay, J. M. Bosilevac, M. N. Guerini, N. Kalchayanand, J. E. Wells, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and M. Koohmaraie. 2008. Prevalence and characterization of Salmonella in bovine lymph nodes potentially destined for use in ground beef. J. Food Prot. 71:1685–1688.
- Barkocy-Gallagher, G. A., T. M. Arthur, M. Rivera-Betancourt, X. Nou, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and M. Koohmaraie 2003. Seasonal prevalence of Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli, including O157:H7 and non-O157:H7 serotypes, and Salmonella in commercial beef processing plants. J. Food Prot. 66:1978–1986.
- Barkocy-Gallagher, G. A., T. M. Arthur, M. Rivera-Betancourt, X. Nou, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and M. Koohmaraie. 2003. Seasonal prevalence of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*, including O157:H7 and non-O157:H7 serotypes, and *Salmonella* in commercial beef processing plants. J. Food Prot. 66:1978–1986.
- Bosilevac, J. M., M. N. Guerini, N. Kalchayanand, and M. Koohmaraie. 2009. Prevalence and characterization of Salmonella in commercial ground beef in the United States. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75:1892–1900.
- Braden, K. W., J. R. Blanton, Jr., V. G. Allen, K. R. Pond, and M. F. Miller. 2004. Ascophyllum nodosum supplementation: A preharvest intervention for reducing Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella spp. in feedlot steers. J. Food Prot. 67:1824–1828.
- Brashears, M. M., M. L. Galyean, G. H. Loneragan, J. E. Mann, and K. Killinger-Mann. 2003. Prevalence of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and performance by beef feedlot cattle given Lactobacillus direct-fed microbials. J. Food Prot. 66:748–754.
- Brown, T. R., and T. E. Lawrence. 2010. Association of liver abnormalities with carcass grading performance and value. J. Anim. Sci. 88:4037–4043.
- Brown, T. R., T. S. Edrington, K. J. Genovese, H. L. He, R. C. Anderson, and D. J. Nisbet. 2019. Evaluation of the efficacy of three direct fed microbial cocktails to reduce fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157: H7 in naturally colonized cattle

and fecal shedding and peripheral lymph node carriage of Salmonella in experimentally infected cattle." J. Food Prot. 83:28-36.

- Budras, K.D. and R. E. Habel, R. E. 2003. Bovine anatomy: An illustrated text. Hannover, Germany: Schlütersche.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2019. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, CDC.
- Cernicchiaro, N., S. E. Ives, T. S. Edrington, T. G. Nagaraja, and D. G. Renter. 2016. Efficacy of a Salmonella siderophore receptor protein vaccine on fecal shedding and lymph node carriage of Salmonella in commercial feedlot cattle. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 13:517–525.
- Cull, C. A., D. G. Renter, N. M. Bello, S. E. Ives, and A. H. Babcock. 2015. Performance and carcass characteristics of commercial feedlot cattle from a study of vaccine and direct-fed microbial effects on Escherichia coli O157:H7 fecal shedding. J. Anim. Sci. 93:3144–3151.
- Dargatz, D.A., P.J. Fedorka-Cray, S.R. Ladely, C.A. Kopral, K.E. Ferris, and M.L. Headrick. 2003. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of Salmonella spp. isolates from US cattle in feedlots in 1999 and 2000. J. App. Microbiol. 95:753-761.
- Dick, K. J., G. C. Duff, S. W. Limesand, S. P. Cuneo, D. K. Knudson, C. P. McMurphy, L. W. Hall, J. C. Bernal-Rigoli, and J. A. Marchello. 2013. Effects of a direct fed microbial on digestive-tract morphology of Holstein bull calves and performance and carcass characteristics of Holstein steers. Prof. Anim. Sci. 29:107–115.
- Eastwood, L. C., C. A. Boykin, M. K. Harris, A. N. Arnold, D. S. Hale, C. R. Kerth, D. B. Griffin, J. W. Savell, K. E. Belk, D. R. Woerner, J. D. Hasty, R. J. Delmore, J. N. Martin, T. E. Lawrence, T. J. McEvers, D. L. VanOverbeke, G. G. Mafi, M. M. Pfeiffer, T. B. Schmidt, R. J. Maddock, D. D. Johnson, C. C. Carr, J. M. Scheffler, T. D. Pringle, and A. M. Stelzleni. 2017. National Beef Quality Audit-2016: Transportation, mobility, and harvest-floor assessments of targeted characteristics that affect quality and value of cattle, carcasses, and by-products. Trans. Anim. Sci.
- Edrington, T. S., G. H. Loneragan, J. Hill, K. J. Genovese, H. He, T. R. Callaway, R. C. Anderson, D. M. Brichta-Harhay, and D. J. Nisbet. 2013. Development of a transdermal Salmonella challenge model in calves. J. Food Prot. 76:1255–1258.
- Elam, N. A., J. F. Gleghorn, J. D. Rivera, M. L. Galyean, P. J. Defoor, M. M. Brashears, and S. M. Younts-Dahl. 2003. Effects of live cultures of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (strains NP45 and NP51) and *Propionibacterium freudenreichii* on performance, carcass, and intestinal characteristics, and *Escherichia coli* strain O157 shedding of finishing beef steers. J. Anim. Sci. 81:2686–2698.

- Foley, S. L., A. M. Lynne, and R. Nayak. 2008. Salmonella challenges: Prevalence in swine and poultry and potential pathogenicity of such isolates. J. Ani. Sci. 86:E149-E162.
- Gragg, S. E., G. H. Loneragan, K. K. Nightingale, D. M. BrichtaHarhay, H. Ruiz, J. R. Elder, L. G. Garcia, M. F. Miller, A. Echeverry, R. G. Ram'ırez Porras, and M. M. Brashears. 2013a. Substantial within-animal diversity of Salmonella isolates from lymph nodes, feces, and hides of cattle at slaughter. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79:4744–4750.
- Gragg, S.E., G.H. Loneragan, M.M. Brashears, T.M. Arthur, J.M. Bosilevac, N. Kalchayanand, R. Wang, J.W. Schmidt, J.C. Brooks, S.D. Shackelford, T.L. Wheeler, T.R. Brown, T.S. Edrington, D.M. Brichta-Harhay. 2013b. Crosssectional study examining *Salmonella* enterica carriage in subiliac lymph nodes of cull and feedlot cattle at harvest. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 10:368-374.
- Haneklaus, A. N., K. B. Harris, D. B. Griffin, T. S. Edrington, L. M. Lucia, and J. W. Savell. 2012. Salmonella prevalence in bovine lymph nodes differs among feedyards. J. Food Prot. 75:1131–1133
- Herrick, R. T. 2018. Experiments towards a greater understand of the liver abscess complex in fed beef. Thesis. West Texas A&M University.
- Holzer, K. 2017. Effects of potential Tylosin substitutes on Salmonella prevalence and the microbiome of subiliac lymph nodes of beef feedlot cattle. Thesis. Colorado State University,
- Jones, D. R., K. E. Anderson, and J. Y. Guard. 2012. Prevalence of coliforms, Salmonella, Listeria, and Campylobacter associated with eggs and the environment of conventional cage and free-range egg production. Poult. Sci. 91:1195-1202.
- Jones, F. T., D. V. Rives, and J. B. Carey. 1995. Salmonella contamination in commercial eggs and an egg production facility. Poult. Sci. 74:753–757.
- Kenney, N. M., E. S. Vanzant, D. L. Harmon K. R. and McLeod. 2015. Direct-fed microbials containing lactate-producing bacteria influence ruminal fermentation but not lactate utilization in steers fed a high-concentrate diet. J. of Anim. Sci. 93, 2336–2348.
- Keyser, S. A., J. P. McMeniman, D. R. Smith, J. C. MacDonald and M. L. Galyean. 2007. Effects of saccharomyces cerevisiae subspecies boulardii cncm i-1079 on feed intake by healthy beef cattle treated with florfenicol and on health and performance of newly received beef heifers. J. Anim. Sci. 85: 1264-1273.
- Koohmaraie, M., J. A. Scanga, M. J. De La Zerda, B. Koohmaraie, L. Topay, V. Beskhlebnaya, T. Mai, K. Greeson, and M. Samadpour. 2012. Tracking the sources of Salmonella in ground beef produced from nonfed cattle. J. Food Prot. 75:1464– 1468.

- McEvoy, J. M., A. M. Doherty, J. J. Sheridan, I. S. Blair, and D. A. McDowell. 2003. The prevalence of Salmonella spp. in bovine faecal, rumen and carcass samples at a commercial abattoir. J. Appl. Microbiol. 94:693–700.
- Parveen, S., M. Taabodi., J. G. Schwarz, T. P. Oscar, J. Harter-Dennis, and D. G. White. 2007. Prevalence and Antimicrobial Resistance of Salmonella Recovered from Processed Poultry. J. Food Prot. 70:2466-2472.
- Quiroz-Santiago, C., O. R. Rodas-Suárez, C. R. Vázquez Q, F. J. Fernández, E. I. Quiñones-Ramírez, and C. Vázquez-Salinas. 2009. Prevalence of Salmonella in vegetables from Mexico. J. Food Prot. 72:1279-1282.
- Rivera-Betancourt, M., S. D. Shackelford, T. M. Arthur, K. E. Westmoreland, G. Bellinger, M. Rossman, J. O. Reagan, and M. Koohmaraie. 2004. Prevalence of Escherichia coli O157:H7, Listeria monocytogenes, and Salmonella in two geographically distant commercial beef processing plants in the United States. J. Food Prot. 67:295–302.
- Rose, B.E., W. E. Hill, R. Umholtz, G. M. Ransom, and W.O. James. 2002. Testing for Salmonella in raw meat and poultry products collected at federally inspected establishments in the United States, 1998 through 2000. J. Food Prot. 65:.937-947.
- Sallam, K.I., M. A. Mohammed, M. A. Hassan, and T. Tamura, T., 2014. Prevalence, molecular identification and antimicrobial resistance profile of Salmonella serovars isolated from retail beef products in Mansoura, Egypt. Food control. 38:209-214.
- Samuel, J. L., D. A. O'Boyle, W. J. Mathers, and A. J. Frost. 1979. Isolation of Salmonella from mesenteric lymph nodes of healthy cattle at slaughter. Res. Vet. Sci. 28:238-241.
- Sant'Ana, A.S., M. Landgraf, M. T. Destro, and B. D. Franco. 2011. Prevalence and counts of Salmonella spp. in minimally processed vegetables in São Paulo, Brazil. Food microbio. 28:1235-1237.
- Singh, S., A. S. Yadav, S. M. Singh, and P. Bharti. 2010. Prevalence of Salmonella in chicken eggs collected from poultry farms and marketing channels and their antimicrobial resistance. Food Research International. 43:2027-2030.
- Stephens, T. P., G. H. Longeragan, E. Karunasena, and M. M. Brashears. 2007. Reduction of *Escherichia coli* O157 and *Salmonella* in feces and on hides of feedlot cattle using various doses of a direct-fed microbial. J. Food Prot.70:2386– 2391.
- Stephens, T.P., K. Stanford, L. M Rode, C. W. Booker, A. R. Vogstad, O. C. Schunicht, G. K. Jim, B. K. Wildman, T. Perrett, T. A. McAllister. 2010. Effect of a directfed microbial on animal performance, carcass characteristics and the shedding of Escherichia coli O157 by feedlot cattle. Anim. Feed Sci and Tech. 158, 65–72.

- Tabe, E. S., J. Oloya, D. K. Doetkott, M. L. Bauer, P. S. Gibbs, and M. L. Khaitsa. 2008. Comparative effect of direct-fed microbials on fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella in naturally infected feedlot cattle. J. Food Prot. 71:539– 544.
- Vipham, J. L., G. H. Loneragan, L. M. Guillen, J. C. Brooks, B. J. Johnson, A. Pond, N. Pond, and M. M. Brashears. 2015. Reduced burden of Salmonella enterica in bovine subiliac lymph nodes associated with administration of a direct-fed microbial. Zoonoses and Public Health. 62:599-608.
- Webb, H. E., D. M. Brichta-Harhay, M. M. Brashears, K. K. Nightingale, T. M. Arthur, J. M. Bosilevac, N. Kalchayanand, J. W. Schmidt, R. Wang, S. A. Granier, T. R. Brown, T. S. Edrington, S. D. Shackelford, T. L. Wheeler, and G. H. Loneragan. 2017. Salmonella in peripheral lymph nodes of healthy cattle at slaughter. Front. Microbiol. 8:2214.
- Wells, J. M., and J. E. Butterfield. 1997. Salmonella contamination associated with bacterial soft rot of fresh fruits and vegetables in the marketplace. Plant Disease. 81:867-872.
- Whyte, P., K. McGill, J. D. Collins, and E. Gormley. 2002. The prevalence and PCR detection of Salmonella contamination in raw poultry. Vet. Microbiol. 89:53-60.
- Wilson, B. K., B. P. Holland, D. L. Step, M. E. Jacob, D. L. VanOverbeke, C. J. Richards and C. R. Krehbiel. 2016. Feeding wet distillers grains plus solubles with and without a direct-fed microbial to determine performance, carcass characteristics, and fecal shedding of Escherichia coli O157:H7 in feedlot heifers. J. of Anim. Sci. 94:297–305.
- Zaidi, M. B., J. J. Calva, M. T. Estrada-Garcia, V. Leon, G. Vazquez, G. Figueroa, E. Lopez, J. Contreras, J. Abbott, S. Zhao, P. McDermott, and L. Tollefson. 2008. Integrated food chain surveillance system for Salmonella spp. in Mexico. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 14: 429–435

Table 1. Ingredient form	nulation and an	alyzed composi	ition of starter and fir	ishing diets
	STA	ARTER	FI	NISHER
Item	CON	10-G	CON	10-G
Ingredient, %				
RAMP	100.00	100.00	-	-
10-G, g/hd	-	2.00	-	2.00
Rumensin, g/ton	20.00	20.00	42.00	41.80
Tylosin, g/ton	10.00	10.00	7.20	7.50
Steam flaked corn	-	-	58.98	58.96
Wet distiller's			13.01	13.00
grain	-	-	13.91	13.90
Sweet Bran Plus	-	-	18.29	18.31
Yellow grease fat	-	-	1.44	1.45
Cotton burrs or	_	_	7 34	7 33
corn stalks	-	-	7.34	7.55
Micro Ingredients	-	-	0.03	0.05
Vitamin A, IU/lb	-	-	1200.00	200.00
Vitamin D, IU/ lb	-	-	120.00	120.00
MGA, mg/ton	-	-	40.00	39.80
Analyzed				
Composition, %				
DM, %	65.30	64.20	64.20	63.70
CP, %	21.60	21.40	15.50	15.40
NPN, %	0.90	1.00	1.30	1.30
NDF, %	39.70	39.60	23.70	22.10
CF, %	3.70	3.60	5.10	5.10
Ca, %	1.30	1.40	0.75	0.78
P, %	0.90	0.90	0.49	0.49
Mg, %	0.40	0.40	0.23	0.23
K, %	1.50	1.60	0.83	0.83

Table 2. Live growth perform	nance of heife	rs fed 10-G		
Item	CON	10-G	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
<i>n</i> pens	10	10	-	-
Initial BW, kg	290.9	291.0	9.9	0.95
Final BW, kg	543.0	545.3	8.9	0.79
ADG, kg	1.37	1.38	0.02	0.69
DMI, kg	8.89	8.98	0.27	0.63
G:F	0.154	0.155	0.005	0.81
Morbidity, %	9.57	9.37	-	0.90
Mortalities and Railers, %	6.17	6.98	-	0.55

Table 3. Liver and lun	g outcome	s of heifer	rs fed 10-G	
Item	CON	10-G	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
Liver Score, %				
Edible	81.53	84.54	-	0.17
Abscessed	12.26	9.23	-	0.10
A-	0.92	1.17	-	0.65
А	2.69	3.16	-	0.61
Total A+	8.51	5.27	-	0.04
A+	2.20	1.02	-	0.11
A+Open	3.38	2.15	-	0.20
A+Adhesion	1.32	0.80	-	0.29
A+Adhesion/Open	1.23	1.08	-	0.80
Total Other	5.99	5.85	-	0.91
Flukes	2.58	2.39	-	0.81
Telangiectasis	0.22	0.56	-	0.28
Contamination	2.06	2.08	-	0.98
Lung Score ^a , %				
Normal	71.93	72.62	-	0.79
One	5.07	4.59	-	0.69
Two	5.37	4.92	-	0.72
Three	7.21	7.69	-	0.74
Four	3.38	5.38	-	0.10
Five	2.15	1.14	-	0.17
Inflated	1.69	0.62	-	0.10
Condemned	2.91	2.62	-	0.75

^a N = normal; 1 = presence of mycoplasma- like lesion greater than 25%; 2 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting <25% of lung tissue; 3 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >25% to 50% of lung tissue; 4 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >50% to 75% of lung tissue; 5 = plural adhesions, a portion of lung missing, or a combination of these affecting >75% of lung tissue; C = contaminated; I = inflated

Table 4. Carcass performa	nce of heifers s	upplemented	with 10-G	
Item	CON	10-G	SEM	<i>P</i> -VALUE
HCW, kg	370.5	374.2	4.9	0.14
Dressed yield, %	64.90	64.80	0.001	0.53
LM Area, cm ²	90.38	91.65	0.8	0.13
Marbling Score ^a	506	516	12.4	0.20
12 th rib fat thickness, cm	1.88	1.89	0.05	0.73
Empty body fat ^b , %	32.00	32.11	0.35	0.71
Quality Grade, %				
Prime	5.70	5.73	-	0.98
Choice	73.62	77.97	-	0.09
Select	18.94	14.64	-	0.06
No Roll	0.62	0.27	-	0.71
Yield Grade, %				
YG1	6.37	7.01	-	0.72
YG2	29.38	28.80	-	0.85
YG3	37.40	36.24	-	0.62
YG4	23.18	23.94	-	0.82
YG5	3.67	4.01	-	0.78

 $a^{3}300 =$ Slight, 400 =Small, 500 =Modest, 600 =Moderate

^b Empty body fat calculated using EBF, $\% = 17.76107 + (4.68142 \times FT) + (0.01945 \times HCW) + (0.81855 \times QG) - (0.06754 \times LMA)$, where FT = 12th rib fat thickness in cm, HCW = hot carcass weight in kg, QG = quality grade (4 = Select, 5 = Choice-, 6 = Choice, 7 = Choice+, and 8 = Prime), and LMA = longissimus muscle area in cm² (Guiroy et al., 2001)

Table 5. Salmonella prevalence and log i	n composite	fecal pat	ts collecte	ed from ca	attle fed 1	0-G				
Item	TF	T		D)F				P-VA	LUE
	CON	10-G	0	52	120	191	SEM	TRT	TIME	TRTXTIME
Salmonella prevalence, % positive	69.00	67.00	16.00^{a}	98.00°	78.00^{b}	80.00^{b}	ı	0.73	<0.01	0.36
<i>Salmonella</i> log, mpn/g	2.73	2.84	0.63^{a}	4.53°	2.88^{b}	$3.11^{\rm b}$	0.44	0.70	<0.01	0.49

Table 6. Salmonella prevalence and log fre	om the rectos	anal mucos	sal junction	of heifers s	supplement	ed with 10	D-(
Item	TR	T	DC)F			P-VAI	UE
	CON	10-G	0	192	SEM	TRT	TIME	TRTXTIME
Salmonella prevalence, % positive	55.30	55.05	11.55	98.80	ı	0.92	< 0.01	0.95
Salmonella log (mpn/g)	2.34	2.17	0.29	4.22	0.46	0.63	<0.01	0.59

Table 7. Salmonella prevalence and log of s	ubiliac lymph n	odes collec	sted from h	eifers fed 10-G
Item	TF	T		P-VALUE
	CON	10-G	SEM	TRT
Salmonella, % positive	15.80	7.42	I	0.01
Salmonella log, mpn/g	0.73	0.34	0.28	0.34